UNIVERSITÄTSKLINIKUM HAMBURG-EPPENDORF

Klinik und Poliklinik für Allgemeine und Interventionelle Kardiologie Universitäres Herzzentrum Eppendorf Martinistraße 52 20246 Hamburg

Klinikdirektor: Prof. Dr. Stefan Blankenberg

"Predictive value of testosterone as marker for cardiovascular disease and overall mortality"

Dissertation

zur Erlangung des Grades eines Doktors der Medizin an der Medizinischen Fakultät der Universität Hamburg

vorgelegt von:

Burkhard Brückmann aus Landshut

Hamburg 2019

Angenommen von der

Medizinischen Fakultät der Universität Hamburg am: 15.11.2019

Veröffentlicht mit Genehmigung der Medizinischen Fakultät der Universität Hamburg:

Prüfungsausschuss, der/die Vorsitzende: Prof. Dr. Stefan Blankenberg

Prüfungsausschuss, zweite/r Gutachter/in: Prof. Dr. Frank Sommer

Table of Contents

1 Introduction	3
1.1 Cardiovascular Disease Epidemiology	3
1.2 Risk factors and risk prediction	4
1.3 Difference between risk-factor and risk-marker	5
1.4 Testosterone	5
1.4.1 Anatomy and Regulation	5
1.4.2 Hypogonadism	7
1.4.2.1 Late Onset Hypogonadism	7
1.4.3 Results of Testosterone Treatment	7
1.4.4 Testosterone Replacement and Cardiovascular Risk	8
1.4.5 Predictive Value of Testosterone for CVD and Overall Mortality	9
1.4.6 Aim of the study	10
2. Material and Methods	11
2.1 BiomarCare	11
2.2 Definition of Endpoints with BiomarCaRE	11
2.3 Study population	11
2.4 Laboratory measurements	13
2.4.1 Testosterone within FINRISK 97	13
2.5 Clinical parameters	14
2.6 Statistical analyses	14
3. Results	15
3.1 Study characteristics	15
3.2 Pearson Correlation Coefficient for TT and clinical variables	18
3.3 Cox-Regression for T2D	19
3.4 Cox Regression for AF and IST	24
3.5 Cox Regression for CHD and overall mortality	30
4. Discussion	34
4.1 Testosterone and Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus	35
4.2 Testosterone and Cardiovascular Diseases	40
4.2.2 Testosterone and Atrial Fibrillation and/or Ischemic-Stroke	41
4.2.3 Testosterone and Coronary-Heart-Disease	44
4.2.4 Testosterone and Overall Mortality	46
4.3 Discussion of cardiovascular risk factors in FINRISK 97	47
4.3.1 Lipids	47
4.3.2 Smoking	47
4.3.3 Body composition marker	48
4.3.4 Testosterone and age	49

50
50
50
51
53
53
55
57
57
59
59
60
61
64
67
68
69
70
/0
70 72
70 72 91
70 72 91 92

1 Introduction

1.1 Cardiovascular Disease Epidemiology

With 17.9 million annual cases of death in 2016, cardiovascular diseases (CVD) (coronary heart disease (CHD), cerebrovascular disease, peripheral-arterial-disease (PAD), rheumaticand congenital-heart-disease, deep-vein-thrombosis, pulmonary-embolism) is attributable for one third of all causes of death around the world (Joseph et al, 2017) and thus have great importance for the World Health Organisation. Globally, death due to CVD "has increased during the past decade by 12.5%" (Joseph et al, 2017), especially in southern countries and Asia due to the growing and aging nations (Joseph et al, 2017).

However, during the last 26 years, the age specific decline in mortality due to CVD is higher in countries with high-income and therefore the highest economic standard of living compared to low and middle-income countries (Joseph et al, 2017).

The decreasing mortality rate and the increasing size of the elderly population is followed by an increasing CVD-related disability status with substantially increasing health expenditures, productivity loss all over the world for individuals and economies (Heidenreich et al, 2011).

The reason for this increase in CVD can be found mostly in lifestyle-changes during the last 70 to 80 years: Unhealthy diet, lack of exercise, non-moderate alcohol- and tobacco-use have contributed to the metabolic syndrome (adiposity, arterial-hypertension, lipid-metabolic-disorder with hyperlipidaemia, insulin-resistance and glucose intolerance) (Mendrick et al, 2018).

The WHO presented the "Global Monitoring Framework" in 2013 as a plan that includes "9 targets and 25 indicators" to achieve a sustainable prevention and control of CVD, cancer, chronic lung disease and T2D to reduce mortality and morbidity of CVD up to 25% by the year 2025 (Joseph et al, 2017).

Since the commencement of counting in 1980, the prevalence of type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2D) has increased fourfold (NCD Risk Factor Collaboration (NCD-RisC), 2016). Being one of the most important global causes for disability, T2D and its complications are "responsible for over two million deaths every year" (NCD Risk Factor Collaboration (NCD-RisC), 2016)

With atherosclerosis as the underlying cause of CVD, it can take decades to develop symptoms of CVD as well as T2D.

Thus CVD can establish, it is necessary to apply customized lifestyle modifications for those individuals at risk. Additionally, every government can offer individual opportunities to improve primary prevention programs (tobacco-control-policies). More precise methods of CVD risk

prediction models and early detection need to be invented to determine the risk for those at high total cardiovascular risk. (Damen, Johanna A A G et al, 2016 May 16).

1.2 Risk factors and risk prediction

Among those key points of the Global Monitoring Framework, "abnormal lipids, smoking, hypertension, T2D/insulin resistance, abdominal obesity (body mass index > 30kg/m²), psychosocial factors, insufficient consumption of fruits and vegetables, alcohol-consumption and irregular physical activity are powerful predictors of atherosclerosis, myocardial infarction, stroke and cardiovascular morbidity and also have great excess in mortality (Damen, Johanna A A G et al, 2016 May 16).

These factors are summarized as biomarkers, defined in 1989 as: "a measurable and quantifiable biological, physiology related or imaging parameter" (Ruwanpathirana et al, 2015)

Biomarkers can facilitate screening, diagnosis and prognosis of probands with and without known CVD. As acute myocardial infarction (AMI) or heart failures are very complex and heterogeneously presenting diseases, an early and rapid evaluation of myocardial-necrosis or heart-failure requires biomarkers with good discrimination and fast analysis. Accordingly, objective assessments using cardiac biomarkers like Troponin I and NT-pro-BNP have become a common attribute to clinical examinations (Jenny et al, 2016).

In addition to the acute setting of a chest pain unit, biomarkers can be useful regarding the risk estimation and prevention of CVD.

The restricted comparability of over 360 risk prediction models for non-fatal CVD leads to an uncertain usefulness, as they are only partially comparable with each other (Damen, Johanna A A G et al, 2016 May 16).

The most included predictive variables from all existing multivariable models among others are sex, age, tobacco use and lipid biomarkers. The more factors are included, the more laborious and time and cost consuming the trial becomes.

Several epidemiological studies like the INTERHEART study the INTERSTROKE study as well as the Framingham Heart Study (FHS) proved their performance as a risk estimation system with clearly defined endpoints and within a representative population. However, even after extern validation, accepted models like the Framingham Risk Score (FRS) or the United Kingdom Prospective T2D Study (UKPDS) model show only limited power for cardiovascular risk estimation (Cooney et al, 2009).

Based on known cardiovascular risk factors, these models classified at least 15–20% patients as low risk, although they have suffered from MI (Khot et al, 2003).

This demonstrates the need of novel biomarkers to improve risk prediction. The prediction due to a new biomarker might add new information which have not been explained by verified cardiovascular risk factors. Besides a statistically significant association, the studies need to pay attention to requirements like discrimination, calibration and reclassification.

1.3 Difference between risk-factor and risk-marker

Risk factors and risk markers increase the risk for CVD. However, it is important to distinguish them. A feature of an individual is called a risk-marker, if it can be correlated to CVD but has not been proven to be the cause for CVD. Therefore, it only predisposes to CVD. Some risk marker like adiposity deserve a special attention as it is the results of hyperlipidaemia and therefore indirectly participate in the development of CVD.

Attributes which have been demonstrated to be causally related to CVD (e.g. hypertonia or hyperlipidaemia) are called risk factors (Hackett and Kirby, 2018).

Modifiable risk factors are part of the individual lifestyle. It has been demonstrated that changing these risk factors can modify the cardiovascular risk. Taking some precautions and changing unhealthy habits reduce the risk for CV-events. This includes a healthy diet, reducing alcohol consumption, regular physical exercise, avoiding smoking and reducing weight. However, these modifiable risk factors like hyperlipidaemia or hypertension are mostly not noticed by patients and their physicians until irreversible damage has already been caused to organs. Over the last years, a lot of assessment tools for these factors have been developed. Among those, the British interactive JBS3 tool or the FRS as well as other observational studies include very little data from patients younger than 40 years. But those can be already at increased risk and need to be considered particularly.

1.4 Testosterone

1.4.1 Anatomy and Regulation

Testosterone is based on cholesterol which is derived from acetate or directly resorbed from blood. The hormone is delivered from low density-lipoprotein (LDL) and stored in lipid-drops. In men, the suprarenal glands as well as Leydig-cells produce dehydroepiandostendione which is converted into andostendion by suprarenal-glands and into andostendiol by testicles. These two very similar intermediate states are converted into testosterone (Heinrich et al, 2014) (Steinhausen, 1984).

The woman's corpus luteum produces testosterone in a very limited dose during the productive years using it as an intermediate product for the synthesis of estrogen. Circulating

androstenedione and dihydroepiandostendione (DHEA), which are synthesized by the ovaries as well as adrenal glands, can be transformed by aromatase into estrogen. The concentration of testosterone increases in girls with the age of 6 to 8 years, leading to the highest level in the middle of ovulation (Ilondo et al, 1982).

40% of all circulating testosterone is bound to Sex Hormone Binding Globulin (SHBG). 58% are bound to Albumin and the remaining 0.5% –2% circulate in its free form. The albumin plasma concentration is 1000 times more stable compared to the concentration of SHGB, although the affinity of testosterone to Albumin is three to four times weaker compared to SHGB. Therefore SHGB is very important for the dynamics of TT (Hammond, 2016). The free testosterone (fT) is biologically active. It is supplied by albumin-bound testosterone. The biological activities of albumin and SHGB bound testosterone are subject to discussion (Hammond, 2016). FT needs to split from albumin to become biologically active. Changes in SHBG or albumin have an influence on the TT level.

Patients with reduced albumin concentrations as seen in Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome (AIDS), cancer, cirrhosis of the liver, nephrotic syndrome and T2D have been associated to lower testosterone levels (Dunn et al, 1981). Usually, albumin buffers testosterone due to transient changes of testosterone as well as SHBG (Hammond, 2016).

Normal values for fertile women are < 2.1 nmol/L and < 2.8 nmol/L for postmenopausal women and for men: 12 - 30 nmol/L (Siegenthaler and Aeschlimann, 2005).

The total testosterone (TT) synthesis and secretion is regulated by a complex interaction between hypothalamic hormones and pituitary hormones. Incoming stimuli from the central nervous system trigger the secretion of gonadotropin-releasing-hormone (GnRH) which itself triggers the secretion of luteinizing hormone (LH). LH binds to a special receptor on Leydig-cells promoting the production of enzymes. These enzymes are necessary for testosterone synthesis. Both testosterone as well as estradiol lower the secretion of LH with a negative feedback on the Hypophysis where LH is produced (Heinrich et al, 2014).

GnRH, LH and testosterone follow a rhythmic and pulsatile secretion with 17 –18 testosterone pulses within 24 hours (Steinhausen, 1984). Monthly and seasonally changes of TT values have been demonstrated in several cross-sectional studies for both genders which differ in terms of social and ethnical matter as well as geographical location. While all studies confirm TT peak levels in the early morning (6–8 AM: 26–28 nmol/L) and lower levels in the evening (6–8 PM: 17 nmol/L), the results regarding seasonal variation of TT show heterogenic results. A seasonal variation of androgens can be assumed, but further investigation is needed (Gupta et al, 2000; Davis and Wahlin-Jacobsen, 2015).

1.4.2 Hypogonadism

Hypogonadism describes the symptoms resulting from testosterone levels beneath the lower limits of young healthy men between the age of 20 and 30 years. The insufficient production of testosterone can affect testicles (primary hypogonadism) or the hypothalamus /pituitary axis (secondary hypogonadism) as well as both organs. Both can appear at any age and hypogonadism can also appear to an organ specific insensitivity or resistance for testosterone.

1.4.2.1 Late Onset Hypogonadism

The late-onset hypogonadism (LOH) affects aging men. It combines testicular (primary) hypogonadism with hypothalamic-pituitary (secondary) hypogonadism. According to the Baltimore Longitudinal Study of Aging, "20% of men over 60 years, 30% over 70 and 50% over 80 years" show hypogonadal TT (Fink et al, 2014). Of those aging men who present a suppressed serum testosterone-level in the morning. only a small part develops the genuine syndrome of hypogonadism with diffuse sexual. physical and psychological symptoms (Davis and Wahlin-Jacobsen, 2015).

As LOH symptoms and testosterone levels rarely occur simultaneously. the European Male Aeging Study (EMAS) determined LOH as the combination of low TT (< 11 nmol/L), fT (< 220 pmol/L) and three sexual symptoms namely -erectile dysfunction, less frequently sexual thoughts and fewer morning erections. Other concurrent reasons for hypogonadism have to be excluded before (Dimopoulou et al, 2016).

Non-sexual symptoms involve fatigue, low energy as well as weakness, decreased bonedensity and less muscle mass, physical frailty and depression (Fink et al, 2014). These are symptoms nonspecific for testosterone deficiency but they lower life quality.

Women show decreasing testosterone levels beginning with the age of 20 to 30. Low levels of TT may be associated with psychological as well as physical symptoms. After menopause TT is an important source for estrogen via aromatization (Petering and Brooks, 2017).

1.4.3 Results of Testosterone Treatment

Despite inconsistent results on bone mineral density, cognitive function and muscle strength, the treatment with TT has strongly raised especially in the USA during the last years. The TT industry targets especially aging men suffering from unspecific and varying symptoms (Petering and Brooks, 2017). More than three million prescriptions worth more than \$1 billion in 2012 demonstrate the impact of the TT -business in the USA (Petering and Brooks, 2017).

The application of TT in patients with low testosterone levels, induced by primary or secondary hypogonadism such as Klinefelter's syndrome, pituitary injury or loss of testicles or medical conditions has been proven by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) (Center for Drug Evaluation and Research). However, the FDA refrains to give a statement regarding the safety of testosterone application if no other reason than aging can be found to explain a low level of TT (Petering and Brooks, 2017).

1.4.4 Testosterone Replacement and Cardiovascular Risk

High levels of circulating TT have been associated with an increased risk for CVD as seen in users of anabolic androgenic steroids (Vanberg and Atar, 2010). In 2010 the randomized controlled Testosterone in Older Men with limited mobility trial (TOM-trial) (Basaria et al, 2010) was stopped due to an increased number of cardiovascular events in patients treated with testosterone compared to the placebo-group. The FDA gave serious considerations to a possibly increased cardiovascular risk and higher risk for mortality during testosterone treatment (Petering and Brooks, 2017). These findings launched a strong debate about the advantages and disadvantages of testosterone therapy. While in 2013 and 2014 the retrospective cohort study of Finkle et al. (Finkle et al, 2014) as well as the large trial of Vigen et al. (Vigen et al, 2013) found a higher rate of adverse cardiovascular events during testosterone therapy, two meta-analyses (Haddad et al, 2007 Jan), (Corona et al, 2014) that included observational trials, could not find an increased risk in men treated with testosterone. Finally, another meta-analysis of 2013 claimed that the results of the studies regarding the impact of testosterone therapy depended on the source of financing. Trials which have not been sponsored by the pharmaceutical industry have found an adverse effect of testosterone application on the cardiovascular system (Xu et al, 2013).

The possibly rejuvenating agent testosterone has been recommended hastily without having a full knowledge of both the impact of endogenous testosterone on the cardiovascular system and the imbalance of hormone homeostasis by applicating testosterone. Participating trials have been very heterogenous and differed in patient characteristics, formulation, dose and therapeutic length of testosterone (Petering and Brooks, 2017; Xu et al, 2013).

The current contradictive state of studies does not allow a clear answer whether testosterone application is beneficial or harmful for the cardiovascular system. Large and standardized trials are needed. In the first instance it is necessary to understand the impact of testosterone in healthy individuals on risk prediction.

1.4.5 Predictive Value of Testosterone for CVD and Overall Mortality

Age and male sex are strong risk factors for coronary artery disease (CAD) (Niccoli and Partridge, 2012; Hyun et al, 2017). Testosterone in men declines with increasing age (Burger et al, 2000). Young to middle aged women produce ten times less testosterone (Heinrich et al, 2014) and show a distinctly reduced risk for cardiovascular events compared to men equally aged (Hyun et al, 2017). Due to the rapid decrease of estrogen in menopausal women, the estrogen-testosterone ratio changes to the benefit of testosterone. These women show an increased risk for cardiovascular diseases. Therefore, it is suggested that testosterone plays an important role in the development of CVD.

Inspired by heterogenous results of testosterone therapy on the cardiovascular system, several investigations have been set up to assess the possible association between endogenous testosterone levels and CVD and to understand testosterone induced effects. A growing number of studies suggests that men with lower levels of testosterone and women with higher levels of testosterone are more predisposed to develop CVD (Vikan et al, 2009; Ohlsson et al, 2011; Schaffrath et al, 2015) and coronary heart diseases (CHD) (Zhao and Li, 1998) (Rosano et al, 2007). Some trials have found a positive association between testosterone and the severity of CAD (Dobrzycki et al, 2003). Besides, lower testosterone is assumed to be associated with a higher risk of developing type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2D) in men (Vikan et al, 2010; Grossmann et al, 2015; Hamilton et al, 2016; Schipf et al, 2011). While higher levels of testosterone have a negative impact on T2D2 in women (Davis and Wahlin-Jacobsen, 2015; Muka et al, 2017), men with low testosterone levels show a higher risk for stroke, ischemic stroke (IST) and transient ischemic attack (TIA) (Yeap et al, 2009), atrial fibrillation (AF) (Rosenberg et al, 2018) and a higher risk for overall mortality (Shores et al, 2012; Araujo et al, 2011; Khaw et al, 2007; Meyer and Wittert, 2018; Schaffrath et al, 2015; Sievers et al, 2010). Traditional lipid -risk -factors for CVD have been associated with low testosterone levels (Yarnell et al, 1993). In contrast, several trials have not found an association for CVD and mortality (Araujo et al, 2011; Meyer and Wittert, 2018), but for additional cardiovascular risk factors as T2D, obesity and the metabolic syndrome (Zhao et al, 2014).

The Framingham-Risk-Score (FRS) is a very popular tool for risk prediction in asymptomatic as well as symptomatic patients regarding further cardiovascular events within 10 years. However, men younger than 40 years or ethnical minorities of the western world are not taken into consideration. Moreover, there are no questions about family history, fasting glucose, testosterone level or erectile dysfunction (Araujo et al, 2010). To prevent cardiovascular events in middle aged to older men and women, it is necessary to recognize healthy probands with an increased risk early to start prevention in time. Several risk factors of the FRS are affected

by testosterone or affect testosterone. Higher levels of testosterone have shown to be independently associated with lower values of the FRS (Chock et al, 2012).

In summary, the impact of testosterone on the cardiovascular system and mortality is very controversial. There is lack of sufficiently powered prospective and longitudinal populationbased trials to find out whether testosterone has impact on cardiovascular health and if it could even be an independent risk factor for risk -prediction -models.

1.4.6 Aim of the study

The following dissertation describes the predictive value of total testosterone for I. type 2 diabetes mellitus, II. atrial fibrillation and/or ischemic stroke, III. overall mortality, IV. coronary heart disease. Additionally, the correlation of testosterone and age as well as other cardiovascular risk factors is determined. The strengths and limitations of FINRISK are described as well.

2. Material and Methods

2.1 BiomarCare

Coordinated by the UKE Hamburg, The **Biomar**ker for **Ca**rdiovascular **R**isk Assessment across **E**urope (BiomarCaRE) determines the significance of impact of various biomarkers for cardiovascular risk prediction. Biomarker levels are measured in a centralized biomarker laboratory to standardize measurement conditions. Within BiomarCaRE, biomarker levels as well as epidemiological and clinical data are harmonized in a large database.

The FinRisk97 Study is part of the BiomarCaRE project, co-funded by the European Union and focused on biomarker research for cardiovascular risk prediction with the objective to develop a "European biomarker panel" focusing on Risk estimation for CVD due to established and new biomarker (Blankenberg et al, 2010).

2.2 Definition of Endpoints with BiomarCaRE

Endpoints for this thesis were defined as: receiving the diagnosis of type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2D), coronary heart disease (CHD) (Def.4), atrial fibrillation (AF), ischemic stroke (IST), or mortality within the observation period and after the probands had been enrolled in the study.

CHD (Def.4) included: first myocardial infarction, coronary death, hospitalised unstable angina pectoris and any coronary revascularisation (percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty or coronary bypass surgery) (Hughes et al, 2014).

All individuals who already had the endpoint as prevalent disease or reported as prior disease were excluded from further calculations for that particular endpoint but not for all other analyses with other endpoints.

2.3 Study population

The FINRISK studies are large, independently sampled, prospectively followed and representative population cohort studies from Finland. They are set up every five years to compare significant risk factor changes for non-communicable diseases, and changes in health behavior (Borodulin et al, 2015). By monitoring risk factors, it is possible to observe risk factor levels and their influence on morbidity and mortality from CHD (Cornoldi et al, 2010).

In 1997, 8444 subjects participated in the FINRISK 97 study for clinical examination. Aged from 25 to 74 years, the individuals were randomly chosen from the six regions of Finland, namely Helsinki and Vantaa (the metropolitan area), Turku and Loimaa, Northern Savo (former Kuopio), North Karelia, Oulu Province and southwestern Finland.

FINRISK 97 was followed up for over 13 years with a follow up rate of 99.5%. 0.5% moved abroad and were not considered for calculations anymore.

Pregnant women as well as persons receiving testosterone supplementation or having cancer were excluded from further analyses. Additionally, probands who have already had the specific endpoint at baseline, were excluded (Cornoldi et al, 2010). The longest observation period was 13.9 years and the median 13.8 years.

The FINRISK-survey was granted by the Ethics Committee of the National Public Health Institute and performed in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

2.4 Laboratory measurements

Blood was taken from each subject after a fasting period of at least four hours. The blood was stored at -80°C in the THL (National Institute for Health and Welfare) biobank. Helsinki, Finland until the analysis of specific parameters was carried out (Vartiainen et al, 2000).

2.4.1 Testosterone within FINRISK 97

Testosterone levels were analyzed in the BiomarCaRE Laboratory (University Heart Center Hamburg, Germany). The serum was used to quantify TT by a chemiluminescent-microparticle-immunoassay using the ARCHITECT i2000sr (ARCHITECT 2nd Generation Testosterone; Abbott Diagnostics, Wiesbaden, Germany)

Chemiluminescent microparticle immunoassay (CMIA) makes it possible to detect substances in the blood, using the competitive antigen-antibody principle.

Using this method, an anti-testosterone antibody reacts with two antigens which are added to the fixed antibody one after another. One of these antigens is part of the testosterone molecule and directly binds to the anti-testosterone antibody, while the other competes with the first antigen for a binding site. Pre-trigger (acid, H2O2) as well as trigger complement the mixture leading to a chemiluminescent reaction. The measured relative light units are proportional to the sample's TT level and have to be compared to a calibration curve. In FINRISK 97, the limit for detection of TT was determined as 4.33 ng/dL and the measuring range reaches from 4.33 to 1500 ng/dL (Marquette and Blum, 2009).

In FINRISK 97 the inter-assay coefficient of variation (CV) was determined between 2.35 to 3.57 % and the intra-assay CV between 8.75 to 10.93%.

Quality controls were performed daily before and after sample measurements to achieve comparable results. Calibrator measurements were performed weekly. These calibrators as well as control samples target specific TT levels within the possible range (0 -15.0 ng/mL) of measurement.

All calibrators were provided by Abbott Diagnostics and had to be tested against internal standards before using them as calibrators.

The ARCHITECT Testosterone Reagent Kits were stored at 2 –8 °C with no reagents used after the expiration date (; M. Moustapha, K. Hoad, BR. Cooke, C.Mandelt).

2.5 Clinical parameters

Additional information about established cardiovascular risk factors were collected by questionnaire. Patients were asked if they smoked, if they knew about an arterial hypertension, or if they took any drugs.

The questionnaire, as well as the invitation to the health examination were released by email to all chosen subjects. Anthropometric measurements and blood sampling were performed by specially trained nurses in local health centres or other survey sites, after written informed consent by all participants were collected.

In each local centre, the data was coded and analysed. After the preparation which was conducted according to standard formats, all information were sent to the Data Centre.

Information about mortality or incident/prevalent endpoints were supplied by the National Hospital-Discharge Register (NHDS), the Cause of Death Registry, Cancer Registry, and the Drug Reimbursement Records from the Social Insurance Institution of Finland (Pajunen et al, 2005) (Sund, 2012).

2.6 Statistical analyses

With multiple imputation techniques and the use of the WinBUGS software, it was possible to create complete datasets and prevent the loss of estimation power (Moons et al, 2006; Blankenberg et al, 2010). Missing values (n =875) were calculated with MACE (Multivariate imputation by chained equations) (Azur et al, 2011).

In Table 1, all variables are presented as counts and percentages separated for each sex.

The asymmetric distribution of total cholesterol made it necessary to logarithmically transform TT as well as high density lipoprotein (HDL). Afterwards it was possible to create age-adjusted Pearson correlation coefficients.

TT was used as a continuous as well as categorized and untransformed variable for men and as a transformed variable for women. To compare high versus low levels, TT was categorized into quartiles. After separation for sex, Kaplan-Meyer survival analysis curves were set up with age on the x-axis.

Cox regression models were calculated for continuous as well as categorized TT, each separated for gender.

To incorporate possible confounding factors, three different evaluations were implemented, described as model 1, model 2 and model 3.

The first model considers only the geographical region of Finland, age and sex. Model 2 takes total cholesterol, HDL, systolic blood pressure, hypertension, current smoking, waist-to-hip ratio, body mass index and time of blood draw into consideration. Model 3 takes all confounding factors of model 2 and additionally time of blood draw into consideration. For this purpose, total-cholesterol and HDL need to be log-transformed (Zeller et al, 2018).

In order to evaluate the validity of the cox regression models, the goodness of fit was represented by C-Index.

R version 3.3 (R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria) was used for all analyses.

A p value <0.05 was considered statistically significant and all analyses were two-tailed.

3. Results

3.1 Study characteristics

Table 1 displays relevant multiple imputed clinical characteristics of FINRISK 97. A total of 8444 samples were assayed at baseline, distributed equally for men and women. 49.7% of all individuals were men. The mean age of men was 49.8 years, the mean age for women was 47.62 years. TT levels were much higher in men compared to women 17.10 nmol/L (12.87 – 22.04) versus 1.15 nmol/L (0.87 – 1.56). Body-Mass-Index (BMI), Waist-To-Hip-Ratio (WHR), use of hypertensive medication and systolic blood pressure were higher in men compared to women (see Table 1). Mean total cholesterol levels were almost equally distributed among both genders. Although mean HDL-C levels were lower in men, smoking was much more popular in the male group (see Table 1).

During a median follow-up of 13.8 years, a total of 637 incident T2D cases (7.8 %) (389 men and 248 women) as well as a total of 554 incident CHD cases (Def. 4) (6.8 %) (397 male and 157 women) were registered. Moreover, 991 deaths (12.1%) (673 men and 318 women) occurred. 326 (4%) strokes (213 male and 113 female) as well as 454 cases of AF (5.6%), (287 men and 167 women) appeared within 14 years. During 14 years of follow up, twice as many men as women developed a CHD, a stroke or died (Table 1).

 Table 1 displays the multiple imputed baseline-characteristics for each endpoint before statistical analyses.

Table	1:	Characteristics	of	subjects	in	FINRISK 97

	ALL	MEN	WOMEN	
n	8444	4064	4380	
Age (years)	48.67 (22.08)	49.8 (23.26)	47.62 (21.25)	
Male gender (%)	4064 (49.7%)	4064 (100%)	0 (0%)	
Са	rdiovascular risk	factors		
Current smoker (%)	1772 (21.7%)	1063 (26.2%)	709 (17.2%)	
Hypertension medication	1381.05	766.1 (18.85%)	614.95	
(%)	(16.89%)		(14.96%)	
4064	26.15 (5.64)	26.62 (4.87)	25.58 (6.41)	
Body mass index (kg/m²)				
Systolic BP (mmhg)	134 (27)	137 (26)	130 (27)	
	Biomarker			
Testosterone (nmol/L)	8.04 (16.34)	17.01 (9.17)	1.15 (0.69)	
Total cholesterol (mmol/L)	5.4 (1.4)	5.5 (1.4)	5.4 (1.5)	
HDL (mmol/L)	1.35 (0.49)	1.22 (0.4)	1.51 (0.47)	
	Outcome			
Prevalent T2D (%)	469 (5.7%)	254 (6.2%)	215 (5.2%)	
Prevalent MI (%)	326 (4%)	246 (6.1%)	80 (1.9%)	
Prevalent stroke (%)	212 (2.6%)	131 (3.2%)	81 (2%)	
Prevalent CVD (%)	504 (6.2%)	354 (8.7%)	150 (3.6%)	
Prevalent AF (%)	78 (1%)	61 (1.5%)	17 (0.4%)	
DEATH (%)	991 (12.1%)	673 (16.6%)	318 (7.7%)	
Incident CHD (Def. 4)	554 (6.8%)	397 (9.8%)	157 (3.8%)	
Incident stroke (%)	326 (4%)	213 (5.2%)	113 (2.7%)	
Incident AF (%)	454 (5.6%)	287 (7.1%)	167 (4.1%)	
Incident T2D (%)	637 (7.8%)	389 (9.6%)	248 (6%)	

For continuous variables, median (25th percentile; 75th percentile) are shown. For binary variables percentage is given, BMI = body mass index, HDL-C = high-density lipoprotein-cholesterol, T2D = type 2 diabetes mellitus; AF= Atrial Fibrillation, Systolic BP= Systolic Blood Pressure, MI= Myocardial Infarction, CVD= Cardiovascular DiseaseCHD (Def.4)= First myocardial infarction, coronary death, hospitalized unstable angina pectoris and any coronary, revascularization (percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty or coronary, bypass surgery)

Table 2 describes the classification of TT values into quarters separated for sex.

Table 2 Classification of TT (normalized median values)

	Quarter 1 (nmol/L)	Quarter 2 (nmol/L)	Quarter 3 (nmol/L)	Quarter 4 (nmol/L)
Men	0 –12.82	12.82– 17.01	17.01– 21.99	21.99– 35.0
Women	0 –0.87	0.87 –1.15	1.15 –1.56	1.56 –35.0

Figure 1 and Figure 2 describe the distribution of TT values in FINRISK 97 separated for sex



Figure 2: Distribution of total testosterone in men



Figure 1: Distribution of total testosterone in women

3.2 Pearson Correlation Coefficient for TT and clinical variables

 Table 3 explores the correlation between age-adjusted total testosterone and clinical characteristics by Pearson correlation coefficients.

Smoking men had higher levels of TT (R = 0.09; p < 0.001). Besides, increased levels of TT were associated with higher levels of HDL (R= 0.21. p < 0.001). Men with lower TT had a higher BMI (R= -0.23; p<0.001) and a higher WHR (R= -0.21; p<0.001). Women with higher TT levels showed an increased level of systolic blood pressure (R= 0.04; p = 0.046). Despite late-onset hypogonadism, age itself did not show a correlation to TT levels in men, but a slight correlation with baseline TT in women (R = 0.04; p = 0.012). Age was positively associated with TT level. Based on the results, body configuration, smoking and HDL-C did not show an association with TT levels in women. Interestingly, higher TT levels in men were associated with lower systolic blood pressure (R= -0.04; p = 0.025), whereas higher TT levels in women were related to higher blood pressure (R = 0.04; p = 0.046). Total cholesterol was not statistically associated with TT in both genders. Blood which was collected before 2 PM showed higher TT levels in both genders (**Table 3**).

Clinical variable	Men	Women
Time of day of the blood draw	-0.11	-0.03
p-value	<0.001	<0.001
Age (crude analysis)	0.02	0.04
p-value	0.19	0.012
Smoking	0.09	-0.01
p-value	<0.001	0.69
Total cholesterol	0.009	-0.01
p-value	0.98	0.43
HDL-C	0.21	-0.03
p-value	<0.001	0.052
Systolic Blood Pressure	-0.04	0.04
p-value	0.025	0.046
BMI	-0.23	0.03
p-value	<0.001	0.13
WHR	-0.21	0.03
p-value	<0.001	0.098

Table 3: Age-adjusted Pearson correlation coefficients of testosterone levels with clinical variables.

BMI = body mass index. HDL-C = high-density lipoprotein-cholesterol, T2D = type 2 diabetes mellitus, WHR = waist-to-hip-ratio.

3.3 Cox-Regression for T2D

Observation of 14 years offered an association of TT and T2D in Model 1. Based on the results, men with higher TT at baseline and adjusted for age as well as adjusted for region of Finland have a reduced risk for upcoming T2D. Men with TT in the lowest quartile were more likely to develop T2D compared to the highest quartile of TT (HR: 2.65; 95% CI: 1.89 - 3.69; p < 0.001). Therefore, adipose men with lower TT levels, low HDL levels and higher systolic blood pressure showed the highest risk for T2D. (**Table 4, Figure 3, Figure 4**).

While the region of Finland did not seem to have an influence on the development of T2D (HR: 0.98; 95% CI: 0.79–1.21; p = 0.85), higher total cholesterol (HR: 3.63; 95% CI: 2.02–6.53; p < 0.001), higher Waist-Hip-Ratio (HR: 8317.68; 95%CI: 1384.26 –49979.04; p < 0.001) and higher systolic blood pressure (HR: 3.82; 95% CI:1.71 –8.53; p < 0.0011) were associated with a higher risk for incident T2D, while increased HDL was associated with a reduced risk for T2D. Smoking (HR: 0.97; 95% CI: 0.75 –1.25; p= 0.81) as well as blood draw before 2 PM (HR: 0.76; 95% CI: 0.62–0.94; p = 0.012) did not change the risk for T2D (**Table 5**).

Women however showed opposite results. Increasing testosterone levels showed an increased risk for TD2 (HR: 1.18; 95% CI: 1.03 - 1.35; p = 0.021). TT in the lowest quartile presented a lower hazard for future T2D compared to the highest quartile (HR: 0.53; 95% CI: 0.37 - 0.77; p = 0.003) (Table 4). After additional adjustment for cardiovascular risk factors (model 2) and time of blood draw (model 3), the statistical significance risk for lower TT levels in 1 quartile vs. quartile 4 (HR: 0.72; 95% CI: 0.49 - 1.05; p = 0.091) as well as the statistical significance of continuous increasing testosterone levels (HR: 1.03; 95% CI: 0.89 - 1.20; p = 0.65) got lost (**Table 4, Figure 3, Figure 4**).

Increasing cholesterol levels, increasing systolic blood pressure levels, increasing intake of antihypertension medication as well as increasing Waist -Hip ratio showed an increased risk for incident T2D in women regarding the continuous calculation of testosterone. The earlier the blood has been taken, the lower the risk for T2D has been (for continuous testosterone). In categorized testosterone, only HDL, the intake of antihypertensive medication, smoking and Waist- Hip Ratio showed an increased risk for incident T2D (**Table 6**).

The results showed that the association of TT and T2D remained statistical significance in men and lost significance in females after adjustment for cardiovascular risk factors (**Table 4,5**). Higher levels of HDL, higher cholesterol levels as well as higher Waist-Hip ratio and increasing intake of antihypertension of medication increased the risk for both gender to develop T2D. Smoking did not chance the risk for incident T2D in men, but increased the risk for incident T2D in women. Table 4: Cox Regressions: TT and T2D for men and women

Men (n=3810). T2D events (n=363)								
Continous TT			Categorized TT					
		Quarter 1		Quarter 2		Quarter		
HR (95% CI)	p-value	HR (95% CI)	p-value	HR (95% CI)	p-value	HR (95% CI)	Model	
0.95 (0.93. 0.97)	<0.001	2.65 (1.89. 3.69)	<0.001	1.93 (1.37. 2.73)	<0.001	1.19 (0.80. 1.76)	0.40	Model 1
0.98 (0.96. 0.99)	0.010	1.50 (1.06. 2.12)	0.023	1.29 (0.91. 1.83)	1.29 (0.91. 1.83) 0.15 0.99 (0.66. 1.47) 0.95		0.95	Model 2
0.97 (0.96. 0.99)	0.0059	1.56 (1.10. 2.21)	0.014	1.33 (0.94. 1.89)	0.11	0.99 (0.67. 1.48)	0.99 (0.67. 1.48) 0.97	
	I		Women	(n=3896). events (n	=236)		I	
Continous	TT:			Categoriz	zed TT:			
		Quarter 1	1 Quarter 2			Quarter 3		
HR (95% CI)	p-value	HR (95% CI)	p-value	HR (95% CI)	p-value	HR (95% CI)	p-value	Model
1.18 (1.03. 1.35)	0.021	0.53 (0.37. 0.77)	<0.001	0.77 (0.55. 1.08)	0.13	0.66 (0.46. 0.95)	0.026	Model 1
1.04 (0.90. 1.20)	0.62	0.71 (0.48. 1.04)	0.078	0.97 (0.68. 1.37)	0.84	0.79 (0.55. 1.15)	0.22	Model 2
1.03 (0.89. 1.20)	0.65	0.72 (0.49. 1.05)	0.091	0.98 (0.69. 1.38)	0.89	0.80 (0.55. 1.16)	0.23	Model 3

Model 1: Region of Finland

Table 5: Cox Regressions: clinical variables and T2D for men

Men (n= 3810); T	2D events (n= 363)								
	S:								Model
Region of	Log (Total	Log (HDI	Log (systolic BP	Hypertension	Current	Waist -Hin Ratio	Time of blood		
Finland HR (95%	Cholesterol nmol/l)		mmHa) HR (95%	medication HR (95%	Smoking HR	HR (95% CI)	draw HR (95%		
		(05% CI):							
Ci), p-value	HK (95% CI),	(95% CI),			(95% CI),	p-value			
	p-value	p-value	p-value	p-value	p-value		p-value		
1.09 (0.88. 1.34);								Cont.	Model
0.45								тт	1
1.09 (0.88, 1.34)								Cated	•
0.44								TT	
0.44								11	
0.98 (0.79. 1.21);	3.65 (2.02– 6.58); <	0.27 (0.18–	3.51 (1.58– 7.81);	1.60 (1.29– 1.98);	0.97 (0.75–	8083.37 (1340.37–		Cont.	Model
0.83	0.001	0.42); <0.001	0.0021	<0.001	1.25); 0.81	48748.46); <0.001		тт	2
0.97 (0.79. 1.21);	3.61 (2.00– 6.51); <	0.27 (0.18–	3.45 (1.55– 7.68);	1.60 (1.29– 1.98);	0.98 (0.76–	7620.97 (1261.97–		Categ.	
0.82	0.001	0.42); <0.001	0.0024	<0.001	1.26); 0.87	46022.52); <0.001		тт	
0.98 (0.79. 1.21);	3.63 (2.02– 6.53); <	0.27 (0.18–	3.82 (1.71– 8.53);	1.58 (1.27– 1.95);	0.97 (0.75–	8317.68 (1384.26–	0.76 (0.62–	Cont.	Model
0.85	0.001	0.42); <0.001	0.0011	<0.001	1.25); 0.80	49979.04); <0.001	0.94); 0.012	тт	3
0.98 (0.79. 1.21);	3.59 (2.00– 6.46); <	0.27 (0.18–	3.74 (1.67– 8.36);	1.58 (1.28– 1.96);	0.98 (0.76–	7784.93 (1294.26–	0.76 (0.61–	Categ.	
0.83	0.001	0.42); <0.001	0.0013	<0.001	1.26); 0.87	46826.02); <0.001	0.93); 0.0091	тт	

Table 6: Cox Regressions: clinical variables and T2D for women

Women (n= 38	96); T2D events (n= 23	36)							
Clinical variab	les: HR (95% Cl); p-va	lue							Model
Region of	Log (Total	Log (HDL	Log (systolic BP.	Hypertension	Current	Waist -Hip Ratio	Time of blood		
Finland HR	Cholesterol nmol/L)	nmol/L) HR	mmHg) HR (95%	medication HR (95%	Smoking HR	HR (95% CI);	draw HR		
(95% CI);	HR (95% CI);	(95% CI);	CI); p-value	CI);	(95% CI);	p-value	(95% CI);		
p-value	p-value	p-value		p-value	p-value		p-value		
1.17 (0.90.								Cont.	Model
1.53); 0.23								TT	1
1.18 (0.91.								Categ.	
1.53); 0.22								тт	
1.07 (0.82.	1.94 (0.90. 4.17);	0.18 (0.11.	2.28 (0.85. 6.09);	1.48 (1.12. 1.97);	1.82 (1.31.	843.36 (220.33.		Cont.	Model
1.39); 0.62	0.090	0.31); <0.001	0.10	0.0064	2.52); <0.001	3228.09); <0.001		тт	2
1.08 (0.83.	1.92 (0.89. 4.13);	0.18 (0.11.	2.11 (0.79. 5.67);	1.47 (1.10. 1.94);	1.81 (1.31.	788.31 (205.22.		Categ.	
1.41); 0.58	0.096	0.31); <0.001	0.14	0.0081	2.52); <0.001	3028.19); <0.001		тт	
0.98 (0.79.	3.63 (2.02. 6.53);	0.27 (0.18.	3.82 (1.71. 8.53);	1.58 (1.27. 1.95);	0.97 (0.75.	8317.68 (1384.26.	0.76 (0.62.	Cont.	Model
1.21); 0.85	<0.001	0.42); <0.001	0.0011	<0.001	1.25); 0.80	49979.04); <0.001	0.94); 0.012	тт	3
1.08 (0.83.	1.89 (0.88. 4.07); 0.10	0.18 (0.11.	2.21 (0.82. 5.97);	1.45 (1.10. 1.93);	1.80 (1.30.	778.10 (202.37.	0.90 (0.69.	Categ.	
1.41); 0.55		0.31); <0.001	0.12	0.0095	2.50); <0.001	2991.76); <0.001	1.17); 0.43	тт	

Model 1: Region of Finland

Figure 3 and **Figure 4** present the survival curves for the endpoint T2D distributed in quartiles of TT and separated for sex. The x-axis is used as observational time since baseline. Therefore, cox regression models of T2D have been adjusted only for age. For a better view, truncation of the y-axis has been used in **Figure 4**.



Figure 3: age-adjusted Kaplan-Meier-Survival-Curves for absence of T2D during observational time. Categorized testosterone is shown. First quartile represents the lowest, the fourth quartile represents the highest quartile.



Figure 4: age-adjusted Kaplan-Meier-Survival-Curves for absence of T2D during observational time (with truncated y-axis)

Categorized testosterone is shown. First quartile represents the lowest, the fourth quartile represents the highest quartile.

3.4 Cox Regression for AF and IST

Within 13.8 years of observational time, altogether 629 probands developed an IST (n=276) and/or AF (n=426). Three different cox regression models were set up for linear TT. In Model 1 (adjuste d for age and region of Finland) men with lower TT were at higher risk for AF and/or IST (HR: 0.97; 95% CI: 0.96 - 0.99; p < 0.001). After the adjustment for cardiovascular risk factors in Model 2 and Model 3, the risk decreased by 1% (HR: 0.98; 95% CI: 0.97 - 1.00; p = 0.049 (**Table 7**).

These results could not be confirmed in categorized TT. While men within quartile 1 (HR: 1.52; 95% CI: 1.13 –2.03; p= 0.0049) and men within quartile 2 vs quartile 4 showed a significantly increased risk for AF/IST when adjusted for Model 1 (HR: 1.36; 95% CI: 1.02 –1.81; p = 0.036), this association got lost for all quartiles in Model 2 and Model 3. Apparently, the region of Finland still had a significant impact on the development of AF/IST in men after the adjustment for cardiovascular risk factors (HR: 1.29; 95% CI: 1.05 –1.58; p = 0.016), while smoking (HR: 1.63; 95% CI: 1.29 –2.05; p < 0.001) and the intake of hypertension medication (HR: 1.44; 95%CI: 1.18–1.76; p <0.001) as well as WHR (HR: 12.35; 95% CI: 2.23 – 68.51; p= 0.0040) showed an increased risk for the endpoint, total cholesterol (HR: 0.53; 95% CI: 0.30 – 0.92; p = 0.025) were inversely associated to incident T2D. HDL (HR: 0.80; 95% CI: 0.53 –1.22. p = 0.30), prevalent T2D (HR: 1.00; 95% CI: 0.71 –1.40. p = 0.98) and time of blood-draw (HR: 0.98; 95% CI: 0.81 –1.20; p = 0.88) failed to show an impact on risk prediction **(Table 8)**.

Higher linear TT levels in women were associated with an increased risk for AF/IST (HR: 1.28; 95% CI: 1.12 - 1.46; p < 0.001) in Model 1. After additional adjustment for cardiovascular risk factors (Model 2+ 3), the risk prediction remained significant (HR: 1.17; 95% CI:1.01 - 1.36; p = 0.031) (Table 7).

The categorization of total testosterone in women confirmed these results after the adjustment for region of Finland (Model 1). TT in quartile 1 (HR: 0.68; 95% CI: 0.47 - 0.97; p= 0.036) and quartile 2 (HR: 0.63; 95% CI: 0.43 - 0.93; p = 0.019) showed a significant lower risk for AF/IST compared to quartile 4. However, this significance vanished in quartile 3 (HR: 0.85; 95% CI: 0.59 -1.22; p = 0.38) as well as for all quartiles after the adjustment for additional factors (model 2 and model 3) **(Table 7)**.

Therefore, the region of Finland seemed to have an impact on the risk of AF/IST (HR: 1.37; 95% CI: 1.04 - 1.80; p = 0.026), but this significance was not detected after the adjustment for Model 2 (HR: 1.24; 95% CI: 0.93 - 1.63; p = 0.14). Neither total cholesterol (HR: 0.81; 95% CI: 0.36 - 1.79; p = 0.60), nor HDL (HR: 0.60; 95% CI: 0.33 - 1.10; p = 0.097) changed the risk for AF/IST. Based on this results, higher blood pressure as well as intake of hypertension medication increased the risk for AF/IST. Interestingly, higher blood pressure increased the risk for AF/IST after adjusting for time of blood draw (HR: 2.93; 95% CI: 1.01 - 8.52; p = 0.048),

whereas time of blood draw did not have an impact on the development of AF/stroke (HR: 0.77; 95%CI: 0.58 –1.01; p= 0.056). Smoking as well as WHR did not influence the risk for AF/IST (Table 9).

Table 7: Cox Regressions: TT and AF and/or IST

Men (n = 3876). AF/ IST events (n=408)								
Continou	s TT:			Categor	ized TT:			
		Quarter 1		Quarter 2		Quart	er 3	
HR (95% CI):	p-value:	HR (95% CI)	p-value:	HR (95% CI):	p-value:	HR (95% CI):	p-value:	Model:
0.97 (0.96. 0.99)	<0.001	1.52 (1.13. 2.03)	0.0049	1.36 (1.02. 1.81)	0.036	1.19 (0.88. 1.60)	0.26	Model 1
0.98 (0.97. 1.00)	0.049	1.25 (0.92. 1.69)	0.16	1.18 (0.88. 1.58)	0.27	1.11 (0.82. 1.50)	0.51	Model 2
0.98 (0.97. 1.00)	0.049	1.25 (0.92. 1.70)	0.16	1.18 (0.88. 1.58)	0.27	1.11 (0.82. 1.50)	0.51	Model 3
			Women (n =	4016). AF/IST eve	ents (n=221)			
Continou	s TT:			Categor	ized TT:			
		Quarte	er 1	Quarte	er 2	Quart	er 3	
HR (95% CI)	p-value	HR (95% CI)	p-value	HR (95% CI)	p-value	HR (95% CI)	p-value	Model:
1.28 (1.12. 1.46)	<0.001	0.68 (0.47. 0.97)	0.036	0.63 (0.43. 0.93)	0.019	0.85 (0.59. 1.22)	0.38	Model 1
1.19 (1.03. 1.38)	0.016	0.81 (0.56. 1.18)	0.28	0.73 (0.49. 1.07)	0.11	0.93 (0.65. 1.35)	0.72	Model 2
1.17 (1.01. 1.36)	0.031	0.86 (0.59. 1.26)	0.45	0.76 (0.52. 1.13)	0.18	0.97 (0.67. 1.40)	0.86	Model 3

Model 1: Region of Finland

3. Results

Table 8: Cox Regressions: clinical variables and AF and/or IST in men

Men (n= 3876); Al	Men (n= 3876); AF/IST events (n= 408)									
Clinical Variables: HR (95% CI); p-value								Мо	del	
Region of	Log (Total	Log (HDL	Log	Hypertension	Current	Waist -Hip Ratio	Prevalent	Time of		
Finland	Cholesterol	nmol/L)	(systolic BP.	medication	Smoking		T2D	blood		
	nmol/L)		mmHg)					draw		
1.39 (1.13. 1.71;									Cont.	Model
0.0016									тт	1
1.39 (1.14. 1.71);									Categ.	
0.0015									тт	
1.29 (1.05. 1.58);	0.53 (0.30. 0.93);	0.80 (0.53.	1.49 (0.70.	1.44 (1.18. 1.76);	1.63 (1.29.	12.30 (2.22.	1.00 (0.71.		Cont.	Model
0.016	0.026	1.22); 0.30	3.14); 0.30	<0.001	2.05); <0.001	68.21);0.0041	1.40); 0.99		тт	2
1.29 (1.05. 1.58);	0.53 (0.30. 0.93);	0.79 (0.52.	1.47 (0.70.	1.45 (1.19. 1.77);	1.62 (1.29.	13.53 (2.44.	1.00 (0.71.		Categ.	
0.016	0.026	1.20);	3.10); 0.31	<0.001	2.04); <0.001	74.94); 0.0029	1.40);		тт	
		0.26					0.99			
1.29 (1.05. 1.58);	0.53 (0.30. 0.92);	0.80 (0.53.	1.49 (0.71.	1.44 (1.18. 1.76);	1.63 (1.29.	12.35 (2.23.	1.00 (0.71.	0.98	Cont.	Model
0.016	0.025	1.22); 0.30	3.15); 0.29	<0.001	2.05); <0.001	68.51); 0.0040	1.40); 0.98	(0.81.	тт	3
								1.20);		
								0.88		
1.29 (1.05. 1.58);	0.53 (0.30. 0.92);	0.80 (0.53.	1.49 (0.71.	1.44 (1.18. 1.76);	1.63 (1.29.	12.35 (2.23.	1.00 (0.71.	0.98	Categ.	
0.016	0.025	1.22); 0.30	3.15); 0.29	<0.001	2.05) <0.001	68.51) 0.0040	1.40); 0.98	(0.81.	тт	
								1.20);		
								0.88		

Model 1: Region of Finland

3. Results

Table 9: Cox Regressions: TT and AF and/or/IST in women

	Women (n= 4016); AF/IST events (n= 221)								
Model							value	oles: HR (95% Cl); p-\	Clinical Variat
	Time of	Prevalent	Waist -Hip	Current	Hypertension	Log (systolic	Log (HDL	Log (Total	Region of
	blood	T2D	Ratio	Smoking	medication	BP. mmHg)	nmol/L)	Cholesterol	Finland
	draw							nmol/L)	
nt. Model									1.37 (1.04.
1									1.80); 0.026
teg.									1.34 (1.02.
									1.76); 0.037
nt. Model		1.44 (0.98.	6.58 (0.89.	1.19 (0.78.	1.46 (1.11. 1.92);	2.65 (0.92.	0.62 (0.34.	0.83 (0.37. 1.84);	1.22 (0.92.
2		2.13); 0.063	48.42);	1.83); 0.42	0.0063	7.68); 0.072	1.12); 0.12	0.64	1.61); 0.16
			0.064						
teg.		1.38 (0.94.	6.53 (0.89.	1.19 (0.77.	1.54 (1.17. 2.01);	2.55 (0.88.	0.60 (0.33.	0.83 (0.37. 1.85);	1.20 (0.91.
,		2.04); 0.10	47.66);	1.82); 0.43	0.0019	7.38); 0.085	1.09); 0.093	0.65	1.59); 0.19
			0.064						
nt. Model	0.77 (0.58.	1.43 (0.97.	6.08 (0.82.	1.19 (0.77.	1.44 (1.10. 1.90);	2.93 (1.01.	0.60 (0.33.	0.81 (0.36. 1.79);	1.24 (0.93.
3	1.01);	2.11); 0.069	44.88);	1.82); 0.44	0.0088	8.52); 0.048	1.10); 0.097	0.60	1.63); 0.14
	0.056		0.077						
teg.	0.76 (0.58.	1.37 (0.93.	6.01 (0.82.	1.19 (0.77.	1.52 (1.16. 1.99);	2.84 (0.98.	0.58 (0.32.	0.81 (0.36. 1.80);	1.22 (0.92.
	1.00);	2.02); 0.11	44.16);	1.83); 0.43	0.0026	8.27); 0.055	1.06); 0.078	0.60	1.61); 0.17
	0.049		0.078						

Model 1: Region of Finland

Figure 5 and **Figure 6** present the survival curves for the endpoint AF and/or IST distributed in quartiles of TT and separated for sex. The x-axis is used as observational time since baseline. Therefore, cox regression models of AF and/or/IST have been adjusted only for age. For a better view, the y-axis in Figure 6 was truncated.



Figure 5: age-adjusted Kaplan-Meier-Survival-Curves for absence of AF and/or IST during observational time. Categorized testosterone is shown. First quartile represents the lowest, the fourth quartile represents the highest quartile.



Figure 6: age-adjusted Kaplan-Meier-Survival-Curves (truncated for y-axis) for absence of AF and/or IST during observational time Categorized testosterone is shown. First quartile represents the lowest, the fourth quartile represents the highest quartile

3.5 Cox Regression for CHD and overall mortality

554 CHD cases (397 men 157 women) as well as 991 deaths (673 men, 318 women) resulted in 13.8 years. No difference could be found in TT levels between probands developing the endpoints and probands who did not reach the endpoint (men 16.00 vs 17.01 nmol/L; p=0.39; women: 1.17 vs. 1.15 nmol/L; p = 0.44). Linear TT did not show an association to future CHD or death for both sexes. Categorised TT did not show a significant association to the risk for future CHD or death. Results did not change after adjustment for cardiovascular risk factors and time of blood draw.

	Quartile 4	Quartile 2	Quartile 3	Quartile 1	P for trend				
	<u>(highest)</u>			<u>(lowest)</u>					
HR (95%CI)									
Men									
Model 1	1	1.32 (0.92 –1.90)	1.25 (0.86 –1.80)	1.44 (1.00 –2.07)	0.075				
Model 2	1	1.22 (0.84 –1.75)	0.96 (0.66 –1.40)	1.02 (0.70 –1.51)	0.79				
Women									
Model 1	1	0.69 (0.40 –1.16)	0.72 (0.44 –1.21)	0.87 (0.55 –1.40)	0.61				
Model 2	1	0.79 (0.46 –1.35)	0.90 (0.54 –1.52)	1.13 (0.69 –1.85)	0.56				

Table 10: Cox regressions: TT and CHD (Def. 4) for men and women

HR = hazard ratio. 95 % CI = confidence interval;

Model 1: Region of Finland

Model 2: Region of Finland, log (Total cholesterol, log(HDL), log(Systolic BP), Hypertension medication, Current smoker, Waist-hip ratio, Prevalent T2D.

Model 3: Region of Finland, log (Total cholesterol), log(HDL), log(Systolic BP), Hypertension medication, Current smoker, Waist-hip ratio, Prevalent T2D, Time period of blood draw < 14:00.

Figure 7 and **Figure 8** present the survival curves for the endpoint CHD distributed in quartiles of TT and separated for sex. The x-axis is used as observational time since baseline. Therefore, cox regression models of T2D have been adjusted only for age.



Figure 7: age-adjusted Kaplan-Meier-Survival-Curves for absence of CHD (Def. 4) during observational time in men. Categorized testosterone is shown. First quartile represents the lowest, the fourth quartile represents the highest quartile



Figure 8: Age-adjusted Kaplan-Meier-Survival-Curves for absence of CHD (Def: 4) during observational time in women. Categorized testosterone is shown. The first quartile represents the lowest, the fourth quartile represents the highest quartile.

	Quartile 4 <u>(highest)</u>	Quartile 2	Quartile 3	Quartile 1 <u>(lowest)</u>	P for trend				
HR (95%CI)									
Men									
Model 1	1	0.95 (0.73-	1.06 (0.82-1.36)	1.15 (0.89-	0.23				
		1.24)		1.49)					
Model 2	1	0.94 (0.73.	0.98 (0.75. 1.28)	1.06 (0.80.	0.67				
		1.23)		1.39)					
Women									
Model 1	1	0.88 (0.63-	0.72 (0.51. 1.02)	0.88 (0.63.	0.26				
		1.23)		1.21)					
Model 2	1	0.89 (0.63.	0.79 (0.56. 1.13)	0.99 (0.71.	0.80				
		1.25)		1.39)					

Table 11: Cox regressions: TT and mortality in men and women

HR = hazard ratio. 95 % CI = confidence interval;

Model 1: Region of Finland

Model 2: Region of Finland, log (Total cholesterol, log(HDL), log(Systolic BP), Hypertension medication, Current smoker, Waist-hip ratio, Prevalent T2D.

Model 3: Region of Finland, log (Total cholesterol), log(HDL), log(Systolic BP), Hypertension medication, Current smoker, Waist-hip ratio, Prevalent T2D, Time period of blood draw < 14:00.

And a sum on the state of a first second state of a first state of a first

3. Results

Figure 9 and **Figure 10** present the survival curves for the endpoint mortality distributed in quartiles of TT and separated for sex. The x-axis is used as observational time since baseline. Therefore, cox regression models of mortality were adjusted only for age.



Figure 9: age-adjusted Kaplan-Meier-Survival-Curves for absence of mortality during observational time in men. Categorized testosterone is shown. The first quartile represents the highest, the fourth quartile represents the lowest quartile.



Figure 10: age-adjusted Kaplan-Meier-Survival-Curves for absence of mortality during observational time in women. Categorized testosterone is shown. The first quartile represents the highest, the fourth quartile represents the lowest quartile.

4. Discussion

The results of FINRISK 97 report several main findings of an European population.

- I. Median total testosterone levels of both genders (men: 17.01 nmol/L; women: 1.15 nmol/L) are within the 50th and the 75th percentile of the CDC reference.
- II. A small diurnal rhythm for TT can be reassured in both genders, but the influence on risk prediction was negligible.
- III. In men, increasing TT is associated with a healthier cardiovascular risk profile (increased HDL and reduced adiposity), except for smoking men. Smoking is associated with higher TT in men. In women, no association can be found between TT and any cardiovascular risk factor. Total testosterone does not decrease in aging men but slightly falls in aging women. Men in FINRISK 97 offer a much more adverse cardiovascular risk profile, increased incidence of cardiovascular events, T2D as well as mortality compared to women. Body composition marker (WHR, BMI) are the most important risk factor for the development of T2D as well as AF/IST. Compared to adiposity, the effect of all other risk factors on risk prediction are trivial.
- IV. In men, not only low but also low normal TT is associated with increased T2D independent from adiposity and other cardiovascular risk factors. High TT in women increases the overall risk for T2D, whereas the statistical significance gets lost after adjustment for cardiovascular risk factors.
- V. Hypogonadal and eugonadal men show an increased risk for IST and/or AF compared with normal to supraphysiological TT. In women increased TT was associated with a higher risk for AF/IST. In hypogonadal women within quartile 1 and quartile 2 low TT shows a protective effect for AF and/or IST compared to women with physiological or supraphysiological TT.
- VI. No association can be found between TT and CHD or overall mortality for both genders.
4.1 Testosterone and Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus

Men within quartile 1 and quartile 2 (0 –17.01 nmol/L) showed a significantly increased risk for the development of T2D compared to the highest levels of TT (21.99 –35.0 nmol/L). After the adjustment of cardiovascular risk factors the risk prediction remained significant for men within quartile 1 (0 –12.82 nmol/L). Considering the reference values for healthy young men due to the Endocrine Society (9.2 –31.8 nmol/L) (Travison et al, 2017), men in FINRISK 97 are already at increased risk of T2D, when their TT level is still "normal" and they do not have a high risk cardiovascular profile. This finding shows that not only hypogonadal but also eugonadal men have a higher risk for T2D, independent from cardiovascular risk factors.

It needs to be considered that TT within all quartiles except for quartile 1 represent values which can be seen in healthy young men.

The findings for linear TT and T2D in men were supported by several prospective populationbased trials. While the meta-analysis of Eric L. Ding that included four European- and four American-prospective trials found an average of 42 % lower risk of T2D for those men in the upper dichotomy of TT (Yao et al, 2018) (Ding et al, 2006), the meta-analysis of Qiu-ming Yao found a 35 % lower risk for men with higher TT (Yao et al, 2018). In contrast, the results of FINRISK 97 supply a 51% reduced risk estimation for higher TT in men.

The two meta-analyses as well as the results of FINRISK 97 support the inverse association of TT and T2D in men. Possible explanations are still very heterogenous.

In FINRISK 97, adiposity plays a very important role in the development of hypoandrogenism as well as T2D. The results of FINRISK 97 promote a moderate association of TT and T2D, as well as a strong association of adiposity with T2D. Higher WHR predisposes for future T2D as the cox regression analysis reveals. Adipose men have a 10-fold higher risk for developing T2D compared to women and no other cardiovascular risk factor which has been considered in FINRISK 97, has as much influence on the development of T2D. The relationship between adiposity and TT is alternating. On the one side, weight gain is associated to lower TT (Derby et al, 2006), while low TT levels are associated to increased adiposity (Khaw and Barrett-Connor, 1992; Grossmann, 2018). Recent testosterone-application trials suspected a higher rate of the enzyme aromatase due to the increasing adipose tissue to be responsible for the increasing adiposity in low TT (Tan et al, 2015). Normally, TT is partly converted into estrogen by the enzyme aromatase. This enzyme can be found in the fat tissue as well. It has been hypothesized, that a higher activity of aromatase converts more androstenedione into estrogen, resulting in lower TT and higher estrogen (Karakas et al, 2018). Therefore, it was assumed that higher estrogen levels causes adiposity and further perpetuate the vicious circle of low TT and increasing adiposity (Tan et al, 2015). A recent trial of almost 200 men under aromatase inhibiting therapy revealed, that low estrogen leads to increased fat mass, while TT modulated muscle mass (Finkelstein et al, 2013).

This corresponds with recent results of adipose men who not only have TT, but also low levels of estrogen (Grossmann, 2018). As adipose men show reduced levels of aromatase, it is assumed that the adipose tissue inhibits aromatase, leading to reduced levels of estrogen and increased adiposity. TT application in middle-aged men without aromatase inhibitor showed a growth in muscle mass as well as loss of fat-mass (Grossmann, 2018). Therefore, it is suggested that low TT is indirectly associated to adiposity due to the reduced aromatase activity followed by estrogen-insufficiency (Ghanim et al, 2018). An effective aromatase mainly protects from adiposity as well as from adiposity induced insulin resistance (Huhtaniemi et al, 2012; Dhindsa et al, 2011).

Consistently, weight loss especially after bariatric surgery leads to a strong increase in TT level as well as gonadotropins. (Leenen et al, 1994). This illustrates the much greater impact of adiposity on TT, compared to the modest fat reduction due to TT application (Corona et al, 2013). To understand why the adipose tissue reduces TT, it is necessary to imagine the adipose tissue as an organ which induces an immune-system-response. The adipose tissue discharges mass of proinflammatory cytokines and reactive oxygen species (ROS) which not only promote an acute-phase-reaction and a low grade inflammation in the body (Sjöholm and Nyström, 2005), but also prevents the hypothalamus from releasing GnRH (Jones, 2007). Without GnRH, the HPT-axis does not communicate and the testes do not get a stimulus to produce testosterone.

Besides this central hypogonadism, the adipose tissue produces the hormone leptin, which accelerates the central hypogonadism by inhibiting GnRH secretion. Additionally, leptin directly lowers the gonadotropin derived stimulation on testosterone synthesis in the testes (Pitteloud et al, 2005). The application of TT reduces the inflammatory reaction, upregulates several genes in the adipose tissue, skeletal muscles and heart muscles (Dhindsa et al, 2016). Adiposity reduces TT in men in different ways and promotes T2D. Therefore, low TT could be used as a marker for adiposity derived T2D.

So far, several prospective trials from (Vikan et al, 2010) as well as (Lakshman et al, 2010) and the existing prognostic population-based trials comprised in the meta-analysis by Yao (Yao et al, 2018) and Ding (Yao et al, 2018; Ding et al, 2006) were not able to maintain significant results after adjusting WHR. This suggests a complete adiposity derived effect of TT on T2D.

The results of FINRISK 97 revealed that developing T2D is not only a problem of hypogonadal and obese older men. The adjustment of cardiovascular risk factors in linear and categorized

TT left a significant association between lower TT and T2D independent from obesity and other cardiovascular risk factors. Similar results were found in several trials with androgen deprivation therapy (ADT). Very low levels of TT were achieved by ADT in men with prostate cancer. After 16 months, men within the group with ADT showed a higher incidence of T2D compared to prostate cancer patients without ADT independent from other risk factors. Men who already had T2D at baseline presented a worsened diabetic situation. (Shahani et al, 2008). Further evidence of TT protective effects against T2D have been found in TT application trials. Testosterone promotes signal pathways via insulin, decreases fasting glucose concentration, improves glycemic control as well as insulin sensitivity (Sjöholm and Nyström, 2005). Nevertheless, all TT induced improvements in T2D protection are small and inconsistent (Grossmann et al, 2015; Grossmann, 2018).

Testosterone has many effects on the adipose tissue, the skeletal system, the liver as well as the brain via a modulating effect of androgen receptors (AR). Testosterone derived effects on AR reduce insulin resistance, body fat and lipogenesis (Zitzmann et al, 2003; Fan et al, 2005). All effects are induced either centrally or peripheral. Different trials have proven an effect of testosterone on GLUT 4 transporter, an insulin dependent protein, which manages the glucose uptake in muscles and fat (Rao et al, 2013). Testosterone derived effects via AR not only protect against obesity but have also direct effects on glucose metabolism (Asih et al, 2017).

The results of women in FINRISK 97 showed an association between low TT and decreased risk for T2D. After adjustment of additional confounding factors, the statistical significance got lost. This could be due to the little number of T2D cases in FINRISK 97. Another reason could be the inappropriate measurement method for TT in women. The association of very high androgen levels and T2D is well known and has been described as "Achard Thiers syndrome" (Navarro et al, 2015). A meta-analysis of 36 cross-sectional studies comprising 4795 women by Ding et al revealed a significant association for higher TT and incident diabetes (Ding et al, 2006). While one prospective case control-trial of 359 women (average age 60 years) found an association between high TT and increased risk for T2D (Ding et al, 2007), the Rancho Bernardo Heart and Chronic Disease Study (589 women) as well as the Rotterdam Study of 3117 postmenopausal women were not able to find a significant association (Oh et al, 2002; Muka et al, 2017). One additional meta-analysis comprising four postmenopausal trials and one pre and postmenopausal women from Europe and America confirmed these results (Muka et al, 2017).

Pearson-correlation coefficients of TT and T2D in FINRISK 97 revealed an adiposity independent association between TT and T2D. Adipose women had a higher risk for T2D in FINRISK 97 but adipose women did not show higher testosterone levels. This findings are in

compliance to obesity independent association of TT and T2D in 845 healthy postmenopausal women of the PEPI trial (Kalish et al, 2003) and correlation coefficients from postmenopausal women of the Rancho Bernardo study (Oh et al, 2002), both with similar WHR and BMI at baseline. In contrast, a small trial with young healthy women revealed that higher WHR was associated with higher TT levels (Mondragón-Ceballos et al, 2015). Possibly, this association is age-related and gets lost in menopausal women. This could be the reason, why FINRISK 97 and other trials that included mostly menopausal and post-menopausal women could not find an adiposity related correlation. Another reason could be that WHR does not adequately reflect the fat distribution of women, who tend to have more subcutaneous fat as well as gluteal/femoral fat than visceral fat in men (Bouchard et al, 1993).

The number of trials examining TT in premenopausal women is sparse and focuses on women with polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS). This endocrine disorder is characterized by multiple cystic alterations of ovaries which cause hyperandrogenemia and ovulatory dysfunction in young women. Its importance is often underestimated as one of six women is affected and it is often accompanied by compensatory insulin resistance, hyperinsulinemia and obesity. The expression of symptoms varies but only women with PCOS and hyperandrogenism develop T2D (Legro et al, 1999). Insulin stimulates the testosterone synthesis in ovarian theca cells through cognate receptors via the inositolglycan pathway of PCOS as well as non-PCOS (Nestler et al, 1998). Ovarian theca cells in PCOS are more sensitive for insulin than normal ovarian theca cells, causing higher TT values (Cadagan et al, 2016). Raised TT increases insulin-secretion of pancreatic β -cell failure. While most tissues show increasing insulin resistance and glucose intolerance, the inositolglycan pathway maintains its effect on ovarian testosterone synthesis, possibly independent from age (Nestler et al, 1998).

Treating women with metformin, an antidiabetic drug, have proven a decrease in TT levels independent from BMI (Kolodziejczyk et al, 2000). This acknowledges an obesity independent association of TT with T2D in women. In healthy women hyperinsulinemia is also involved or may even be the reason for hyperandrogenism in premenopausal women (Dunaif, 1997). Chronic high values of insulin increase and regulate levels of TT by several direct effects on steroidogenesis (Barbieri and Ryan, 1983; Fox et al, 1993; Guo et al, 2001). However, in vivo trials are difficult to set up for non-diabetics by administering insulin for a longer time and considerations mostly derive from in vitro trials (Micic et al, 1988). Furthermore, trials with Diazoxin application, an insulin lowering drug, in diabetic women resulted not only in a reduced insulin secretion, but also in reduced TT.

Another hypothesis considers testosterone to be causal for T2D. Female to male transsexuals experience a lot of physical changes due to testosterone therapy. Besides they show a reduced glucose uptake as well as insulin resistance during ongoing TT supplementation (Polderman et al, 1994; Streed et al, 2017).

Furthermore, young healthy women who were treated with TT for several days exhibited a reduced insulin sensitivity in fat-cells and muscles-cells. Hepatic cells have not been affected (Diamond et al, 1998). The findings of that trial agree with a long-known fact, that adipose as well as muscle tissue in women show increased insulin-sensitivity compared to their male-counterparts. Releasing an identical amount of insulin in both men and women, causes a much higher insulin-stimulated glucose transport in the adipose- and muscle-tissue of women compared to men (Foley et al, 1984; Nuutila et al, 1995). Testosterone promotes the composition of those female muscle-fibers which are less insulin sensitive (Holmäng et al, 1992). Therefore, insulin sensitive tissues like muscles or fat can lose the ability to answer arriving insulin leading to hyperinsulinism and decreased glucose-utilization (Ye, 2013). With its effect on skeletal muscles, TT promotes insulin-insensitivity, leading to T2D with increasing or continuous elevated TT.

The impact of TT on health in women could be even more extensive. Testosterone application in prenatal rhesus monkeys of pregnant females causes insulin resistance and obesity as soon as the offspring is grown-up (Eisner et al, 2000). The question needs to be asked, if TT in adults could be used as a predictive marker not only for T2D and adiposity but also for the unborn descendants.

4.2 Testosterone and Cardiovascular Diseases

4.2.1 Association between Atrial Fibrillation and/or Ischemic Stroke

15 to 20 % of all ISTs are referred to AF and those with previous stroke. An underlying diagnosis of AF show an increased risk for a second ischemic brain event within the first year after stroke. The risk of developing an IST is five times larger in probands with AF compared to those without this specific rhythm disorder at baseline (Wolf et al, 1991). Neurological damages especially in the insula-cortex can cause AF after stroke (post-stroke AF) and raises the prevalence of AF to 39% in patients with IST (Sposato et al, 2015). Considering that poststroke AF increases the risk for IST alike pre-stroke, the relevance of AF for ischemic-strokeaetiology would be even higher. Vitamin K antagonists as well as anticoagulants are proven to reduce the risk for further cardiogenic embolic strokes by approximately 64 % (Sposato et al, 2015). While the age-adjusted prevalence of AF maintains stable in Caucasian population over the last 30 years, the rate of AF increases due to the aging population. Besides more efficient diagnostic methods, a higher expectation of life is mainly responsible for the increasing relevance. This cardiac rhythm disorder is three-times more presented in 85 years old, compared to 65 to 70 years old probands. This illustrates the relevance of AF for incident IST and the close link between AF and IST. Consequently, it is reasonable to combine and examine AF and IST in one endpoint for FINRISK 97.

4.2.2 Testosterone and Atrial Fibrillation and/or Ischemic-Stroke

The overall effect of TT reveals, that it is protective in men and deleterious in women.

While hypogonadism protects women from AF and/or IST, hypogonadal men have an increased risk for the specific endpoint.

In men, smoking as well as adiposity independently increase the risk for AF/IST as well as the TT level. Accordingly, adipose non-smokers would have a reduced risk for AF/IST and lower TT levels compared to adipose smokers. Higher TT in smoking men would therefore possibly be associated to an increased risk for AF/IST. So higher TT in a subgroup of men would be associated to an increased risk for AF/IST. This thesis contrasts with the general belief, that low TT is associated to an increased risk for AF/IST.

However, smoking and adiposity have much bigger impact on AF/IST than low levels of TT. The administration of testosterone would only derive little improvement in risk prediction if smoking and adiposity would not be changed by lifestyle modifications. This hypothesis needs to be validated in further trials.

In FINRISK 97, T2D did not increase the risk for AF and/ or IST for both genders. This finding contrasts with a recent meta-analysis published in Lancet. The authors demonstrated that T2D is an independent risk factor for IST in patients with AF (Group, The Stroke Risk in Atrial Fibrillation Working, 2007).

It is known that high cholesterol is a risk factor for IST and lowering cholesterol level decreases the risk for CVD. In contrast to that, men in FINRISK 97 with high cholesterol levels showed a reduced risk for AF/IST. The inverse correlation for cholesterol and AF has been described before (Magnussen et al, 2017). The severity of IST was inversely associated to total cholesterol levels (Olsen et al, 2007). In women of FINRISK 97, the inverse correlation between cholesterol and AF/IST did not reach statistical significance.

In women, no cardiovascular risk factor showed a simultaneous association to TT and the endpoint. There is need for confounding factors like SHGB which is proven to affect TT as well as the endpoint and is subject to fluctuations (Brand and Schouw, Y T van der, 2010).

To include the relevant state of studies the combined endpoint needs to be separated into AF and IST and considered independently. No other trial has examined both diseases as one endpoint.

Most of population-based trials like the prospective Copenhagen City Heart Study are summarized in the meta-analysis of Holmegard et al. It confirms that TT below the tenth percentile in men (median: < 6 nmol/L) is associated with a higher incidence of stroke

compared to men above the 90th percentile (median: 14 nmol/L). No statistical significance between TT and incident stroke could be found in women (Holmegard et al, 2016).

The Copenhagen City Heart Study as well as the meta-analysis only focus on borderline TT concentrations and did not show an overall effect of TT on stroke.

On the other side, the Honolulu Asia Aging Study could not find an association between TT and stroke in 2197 elderly men (Abbott et al, 2007). A large prospective trial of 2914 female patients with a median age of 58 revealed that very low TT predicts stroke in women (Sievers et al, 2010).

All existing trials have either found no level or low level of TT to be associated with incident stroke in men. Existing trials in women have found an association for incident stroke in low levels, no levels and very high levels of TT.

Taking a closer look on comparable trials, it is possible to see important differences compared to FINRISK 97. Most of the mentioned trials comprise older men and women with an average age over 58 years (median age > 70 years). As aging is often accompanied by increasing comorbidities and geriatric manifestations these participants are affected by an increased risk for non-adjusted health conditions which could falsify the correlation.

Besides, existing trials differ regarding the endpoint stroke. The Health in Men Study (HIMS) of older community dwelling men (median age: 77) included all stroke related events (haemorrhage, transient ischemic attack, subarachnoid bleeding) (Yeap et al, 2009). This approach only focuses on stroke related symptoms and neglects the different pathogeneses of strokes.

The points of criticism question the informative value regarding the effect of TT for all men and women. It seems that existing trials are only valid for a subgroup of all men and women. Stroke pathologies are very heterogenous. The combination of all kind of strokes could be considered as a marker for cardiovascular health rather than a marker for stroke.

There are several possible hypothesises how TT can increase the risk for IST.

Based on the TOAST criteria, there are several reasons for ISTs. Besides AF, 20 % of all ISTs are derived from carotid or intracranial vessels atherosclerotic stenosis (Flaherty et al, 2013). The increasing degree of stenosis is presented as increasing Intima-Media-Thickness (IMT) and can be measured via ultrasound. The IMT have been proven to be an independent risk factor for IST as well as myocardial infarction (Ludwig et al, 2003; Hollander et al, 2003) Several trials have shown that IMT is inversely associated with TT (SVARTBERG et al, 2006).

The impact of TT on AF could be one of the reasons why high TT in women is associated to a higher risk of IST. Women with premature menopause have an increased risk for IST (Archer, 2009). High TT could also be a modulator of atherosclerosis through indirect effects on atherosclerosis, hyperlipidemia and T2D (Kaufman and Vermeulen, 2005). Therefore, an early onset of menopause with an early loss of estrogen and a longer period of predominant TT could be another explanation for the increased risk for IST in women. In other studies, TT was associated with protective effects as oophorectomized women with low TT and low estrogen levels had a reduced cardiovascular risk when additionally treated with testosterone (Barrett-Connor, 2013). In general, TT seems to have both deleterious and protective effects on the cardiovascular system and especially on the development of IST. The overall effect may depend on the estrogen/testosterone ratio as well as comorbidities. Therefore, TT in women is rather a marker for cardiovascular health than a specific marker for stroke or AF.

In a group of middle aged to older men of a community-based cohort in FRS, the longitudinal analysis over ten years showed inconsistent results in different age groups regarding TT and AF (Magnani et al, 2014). While low TT in men between 55 and 65 as well as men over 80 years showed a significant higher risk for AF, this association could not be reproduced for men between 70 and 79 years. In contrast to the FRS, the male population in FINRISK 97 is much younger, has less prevalent T2D and higher median TT levels.

Another cohort of 1019 older men (>76 years) in the Cardiovascular Health study with a higher prevalence of T2D and lower TT levels could not find an association between TT and incident AF (Rosenberg et al, 2018). The multi-ethnic study of Atherosclerosis of 4883 men and women with an average age of 62 in men and 65 in women revealed that lower levels of bioavailable testosterone in men predict an increased risk for AF. An association for TT could not been found (O'Neal et al, 2017).

So far, several gender-differences in AF regarding electrophysiologic pathology (Staerk et al, 2017; Ko et al, 2016), stroke incidence (Yarnoz and Curtis, 2008), risk factors (Magnussen et al, 2017) and age at onset (Schnabel, 2012) have been described before (Ravens, 2018). A possible explanation for men could be found in a trial with gonadectomized rats from (Tsuneda et al, 2009). The authors demonstrated that TT deficient rats showed an increased rate of atrial rhythm disorders compared to testosterone treated rats. This finding could explain the association of low TT in young adults with the onset of lone AF (Lai et al, 2009). Lone AF only represents one part of AF and the main part of AF follows structural heart disease. Therefore, low TT indirectly increases the risk for AF by worsening the risk factors like hypertension and T2D, which are independently associated to structural heart disease (Magnussen et al, 2017).

4.2.3 Testosterone and Coronary-Heart-Disease

Due to the results of FINRISK 97, TT has no predictive impact on CAD. Neither very low nor did very high TT altered the risk. The adjustment of age and classical cardiovascular risk factors did not change these associations.

The existing literature regarding major CV -event as well as death from fatal CV -events is very heterogenous offering observational and narrative reviews. One part of them supports TT to be protective while another part could not find an effect on incident CVD (Ruige et al, 2011; Liu et al, 2003; Wu and Eckardstein, 2003).

No known epidemiological trial up to the year 2009 could find an association between TT level and incident CHD in men. In 2011, the MrOS study of 2416 participants (Ohlsson et al, 2011) proved that men within the highest quartile of TT (> 19 nmol/L) had an reduced risk for CVD, death including CHD events as well as cerebrovascular events. In contrast to all previous epidemiological trials as well as FINRISK 97, gas chromatography/mass spectrometry was used for testosterone evaluation. Although using gas chromatography/mass spectrometry, Shores et al 2014 could not confirm an association between TT and CVD/mortality among 1032 men (Shores et al, 2014). This confirms, that testosterone measurement is not the reason for an insufficient association found in FINRISK 97. A case-control study by Soisson et al. revealed an increased risk for incident CHD among French men within the lowest quintile (< 13.7 nmol/L) and within guintile three to five (> 16.9 nmol/L) (Soisson et al, 2013). Interestingly the trial of Soisson as well as the MrOS study had an observational time between four to five years but obtained as many major CV -events as FINRISK 97 did in ten to 15 years. With a median age of 73 and a high rate of comorbidities at baseline like hypertension and T2D, these trials do not apply to the average male section of the population but rather to elderly men. TT could be a marker for health in older people (Ruige et al, 2011). Only the results of FINRISK 97 can prove the predictive impact of TT on CHD as they represent all male adults.

In women the results of FINRISK support the current state of trials comprising the Study of Health in Pomerania (Schaffrath et al, 2015) as well as a meta-analysis by Holmegard et al. combined with the Copenhagen City Heart Study (Holmegard et al, 2016). TT is not an independent risk factor for CHD as well as mortality. Previous trials have shown very contradictory results. Postmenopausal women of the Rancho Bernardo Study with low TT levels and an average age of 73 showed an highly increased risk for CHD with extremely low levels of TT within the lowest quintile (0.04 nmol/L– 0.28 nmol/L) versus all other quintiles (0.28 nmol/L– 2.61 nmol/L). With an average level of 0.49 nmol/L these women had much lower levels of TT compared to FINRISK 97 (1.15 nmol/L) and they were below the reference values for normal TT in postmenopausal women (Eisenhofer et al, 2017). Besides, they have a higher

rate of hypertension (79 %) compared to FINRISK 97 (13 %), higher rate of T2D (16 %) compared to FINRISK (4.9%) and a lower BMI (24) compared to FINRSIK 97 (26). Additional to the much higher rate of comorbidities and a high rate of mortality within 12 years (21%), these women represent unphysiological low TT. As the testosterone synthesis in women maintains after menopause (Miller, 2008), medication, tumours and other diseases (Miller, 2008) can significantly decrease TT in women. Further on, it is possible that selection bias influenced the results of the Rancho -Bernardo -Study. In general, these results regarding TT and CHD may apply to a restricted part of women. But this finding cannot be validated for all women. In contrast, the Copenhagen City Heart Study showed that women at the 95% percentile or above have a higher risk for CHD and death compared to women within the eleventh and 89th percentile. The blood has been taken in the years 1981 – 1983. TT was stored at -20°C for 30 years until the measurement was done with CMIA in 2009-2011. Several trials have proven an increase in TT with prolonged measurement (see more in section 4.2.4). Therefore, a falsification could be the reason for the association (Gislefoss et al, 2012; Holl et al, 2008). Another trial of 108 postmenopausal women attending coronary angiography showed that lower TT was associated with the onset of CHD (Kaczmarek et al, 2003). Despite differences in cardiovascular risk factors between both groups especially regarding T2D, only age was considered as confounding factor. It is possible that selection bias as well as neglection of confounding factors caused the association in this cross-sectional analysis. In general, the results of the existing literature regarding CHD and endogenous TT are very contradictory and cannot sufficiently prove the impact of TT on CHD as the results of FINRISK 97 show.

4.2.4 Testosterone and Overall Mortality

The results of FINRISK 97 reveal TT has no predictive impact on overall mortality. Summarizing all comparable and existing studies, the result of one meta-analysis of 2011 revealed an increased risk for overall mortality in men with lower TT (Meyer and Wittert, 2018; Araujo et al, 2011). Although there have been several trials which could not find an association between TT and the overall mortality, these meta-analyses are not valid for all men due to several limitations. Although all trials are large, observational and adjusted for age, they differ in many details which mostly are a side -effect of aging. Comparing baseline results Finish men were not only younger (48 years vs. 61 years) but also had higher TT levels (17.15 nmol/L vs 16.9 nmol/L), smoked less (26.6 % vs. 28 %) and had been observed for a longer time (14 years vs. 9.7 years). The protective effect of TT only applies for a part of men in advanced years and with several comorbidities at baseline but cannot be accepted for the general population. Due to findings of FINRISK 97 low TT within the range of hypogonadism is not an independent risk factor for mortality but probably a good risk marker for the general health in men.

Results of FINRISK 97 regarding TT and overall mortality in women are in line with the present state of literature. The Study of Health in Pomerania (SHIP) (n=2192) with an identical median age (49 years) and an equal number of women before and after menopause could not find a predictive value for TT and mortality (Schaffrath et al, 2015). Interestingly, median TT was much higher in FINRISK 97 although there were less women in FINRISK 97 with hypertension (14 % vs. 39 %), smoking (17.4 % vs 27 %) or T2D (5% vs 10%). A possible explanation for the difference in median TT could be explained in the well-known difficulty to correctly measure very low TT levels in women (see section 4.2.1). While FINRISK 97 uses competitive-immuno-assay, gas chromatography/mass spectrometry were the measurement method in SHIP.

4.3 Discussion of cardiovascular risk factors in FINRISK 97

Several cardiovascular risk factors were proven to alter the risk for CVD and T2D. Some are also associated to testosterone, which is discussed in the following.

4.3.1 Lipids

The linear correlation analysis of HDL and testosterone revealed that men with a higher TT have higher HDL values. Results for men are in line with several population based trials (Vikan et al, 2009; Khaw and Barrett-Connor, 1991; Haffner et al, 1993). Surprisingly, the correlation of total cholesterol and TT in men did not reveal statistical significance in contrast to earlier trials (Mäkinen et al, 2008; Haffner and Valdez, 1995).

TT in women did not reveal a statistically significant association neither to HDL levels nor to total cholesterol. These results contrast with several population-based trails of women which demonstrated lower TT to be associated with higher HDL and lower total cholesterol (Laughlin et al, 2010; Sievers et al, 2010; Brand and Schouw, Y T van der, 2010). A possible explanation for the missing correlation can be the age of included women. Women in FINRISK 97 are much younger (median age: 47 years) than the comparable population-based trials mentioned before. The average age of the onset of menopause is 51 years (te Velde and Pearson, 2002). During menopausal transition, women are affected by ovarian insufficiency which changes the hormone balance and worsens the lipid profile. This leads to an increased cardiovascular risk in (post)menopausal women (Muka et al, 2016). Most population-based trials include postmenopausal women with an average age much older than 50 years. Large trials of younger women mostly comprise women with polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) or transsexuals. The inclusion of younger healthy and perimenopausal women could be the reason for the missing statistical significance between TT and total cholesterol in FINRISK 97.

4.3.2 Smoking

Almost 50 % of TT variability is assumed to be attributed to environmental factors for both genders (Harden et al, 2014). In FINRISK 97, Pearson-correlation coefficients revealed that smoking men have higher TT, whereas no association between TT and smoking could be found in women.

A recent meta-analysis examined the influence of smoking on TT in men among 22 trials and 13317 men with the age of 18 to 61 years. The TT levels in smokers were significantly higher compared to the group of non-smokers. A meta-analysis of young to middle aged women could not prove an association between TT and smoking (Zhao et al, 2016 Apr). Prenatal influences

could have an impact on later TT level, as experiments with rats demonstrated. Female exposure to nicotine raised the mother's TT level as well as the TT level in female offspring, but not in male offspring (Harden et al, 2014).

4.3.3 Body composition marker

In FINRISK 97, TT and body composition markers (WHR and BMI) show a strong inverse correlation in pearson-correlations throughout all age groups. Men with higher BMI or WHR have lower TT levels, whereas TT in women did not alter WHR or BMI (see table 5). Interestingly, the correlation between BMI and TT is stronger than between WHR and testosterone (0.23 vs 0.20). A possible explanation is described in the following. Additionally, it is figured out why WHR but not BMI is used for cox-regression analyses.

BMI represents the relationship of height and weight, including subcutaneous fat, visceral fat, muscle mass and hydration status. Especially the last two factors can fluctuate in aging men. Loosing muscle -mass and increasing fat -mass is associated with an increased risk for metabolic disease, although the BMI does not necessarily change significantly (Kelly and Jones, 2015). In contrast, WHR considers the fat disposition and represents the visceral fat. WHR is assumed to be stronger associated to adiposity derived comorbidities than BMI (Haslam and James, 2005). Several trials which used computed tomography and magnetic resonance image to determine fat mass could demonstrate that only visceral fat shows an inverse correlation with TT during an observation period of several years (Tsai et al, 2000; Couillard et al, 2000). The results of FINRISK show, that changes in TT not only have an influence on visceral fat but additionally influences the body composition including muscle mass.

In contrast to the missing correlation in FINRISK women, literature regarding the association between TT and body composition markers among premenopausal women is mostly based on hyperandrogenism and obesity in women with PCOS or male-to-female transsexuals (Gambineri et al, 2002; Elbers et al, 1997). A small trial of 30 young healthy women used dual energy x-ray absorptiometry and computed tomography to measure fat mass and muscle mass. It revealed that young women (median age: 27) with higher physiologic TT had higher overall adiposity but the TT did not correlate with visceral adiposity, subcutaneous fat and skeletal muscle mass (Keller et al, 2011). These data suppose that fat distribution and body composition in FINRISK women as well as other epidemiological trials (Muka et al, 2017) were poorly determined with BMI and WHR.

Despite the strong correlation of TT and BMI/WHR in men it is debatable if these results can be used globally as body composition varies between different races/ethnicities (Seo et al, 2017) and TT and obesity are strongly associated.

4.3.4 Testosterone and age

The Pearson-correlation coefficient of FINRISK 97 demonstrates that the TT does not decrease in aging men. Aging women show increasing TT levels. Almost stable estimated median TT levels for over 10000 healthy men between 50 and 99 years from 13 heterogenous trials have been confirmed by (Kelsey et al, 2014) as well as by (Travison et al, 2017). This result contrasts to the general opinion of age-related decline after the age of 50 years, which was merely set up by the results of larger cross-sectional studies as well as one longitudinal study of the Massachusetts-Male-Aging-Study (MMAS) with 1532 male probands (Travison et al, 2007; van Anders et al, 2014). Differences between these similar prospective trials and cross-sectional trials derive from varying TT measurements and calibration methods as well as differences in an adjustment of confounding factors and the increasing variance in older male. For instance, no lipid profile was added to the MMAS (Travison et al, 2007). Finally, FINRISK 97 does not answer the question if an unknown environmental factor lowers TT transiently or persistently in all men. This would partly explain the age-related decline in TT of the MMAS. There is only one additional known study in women, which documented an age-related decline in TT levels in women (Zumoff et al, 1995).

4.4 Strengths of FINRISK 97

4.4.1 Study Design

The existing literature comprises cross-sectional and prospective trials. The following discusses the advantages of FINRISK as a prospective population-based trial.

4.4.1.1 Population Based Advantages of FINRISK

The significance of the results of FINRISK are highlighted by the quantity of 8000 participants, an observational range of 13 years, a wide age range of 25 -74 years and an equal distribution between sexes. FINRISK 97 is one of the largest population-based trials regarding testosterone and CVD and mortality in healthy individuals.

Due to history, geography and mixture of habitants, the Finish population shows a very homogenous genetic pool and a stable environment. Therefore, it is ideally suitable for population-based studies of diseases in healthy individuals. Finland is representative as a genetically, environmentally and ethnically homogenous isolate with good linkage disequilibrium (Traglia et al, 2009; Varilo et al, 2000).

Recently, the NHANES (2011-2012) study demonstrated differences in TT among race/ethnic groups of unknown reason (Vesper et al, 2015). Several trials even assign 55 % to 60 % for testosterone heritability in men (Harden et al, 2014; Harris et al, 1998) and similar familial similarity in women (Koenis et al, 2013). Several twin and family studies have confirmed testosterone inheritance to be a modest to very good cause of variability in testosterone levels (Panizzon et al, 2013). Several genes are responsible for synthesis, regulation and action of testosterone. Beside a single-nucleotide polymorphism (SNP), which is related to base testosterone levels (Chen et al, 2016), most effort has been invested in research of androgen receptor (AR) and SHGB (Vandenput and Ohlsson, 2014). The length of CAG triplets as well as GGN triplets on two different AR genes has been positively associated with the amount of testosterone in men (Travison et al, 2010; Bogaert et al, 2009). The length of GGN triplets varied between ethnic groups (Kaufman et al, 2019). Not only testosterone is subject to genetic variability, but also cardiovascular risk factors. The Genome-wide association studies (GWAS) have mapped several genes to be involved in the development of CVD (Giral et al, 2018) (Siitonen et al, 2011; Benjamin et al, 2017). The homogenous genetic pool of the finish population offers less genetically derived confounding factors and is therefore beneficial to determine the predictive impact of TT on cardiovascular disease.

Beside ethnical differences, the geographical location is of great importance for the testosterone level (Harden et al, 2014; Ellison et al, 2002). The multicenter study MrOS (Osteoporotic Fractures in Men), which combines older men from Hong-Kong, Sweden and

the United-States, demonstrated lower testosterone to be associated with a higher cardiovascular risk in men (Ohlsson et al, 2011). The results stay in contrast with FINRISK 97. A possible explanation could be the negligence of ethnic as well as geographical origin to be an important confounding factor in the MrOs study. Even within Finland, there are geographical differences regarding the cardiovascular risk prediction (Vartiainen et al, 2000). 4.4.1.2 Population Structure of FINRISK

FINRISK 97 subjects have an average age of 47 to 49 years. According to the Framingham risk score (FRS), even subjects between the age of 45 to 49 are already at increased risk. However, only one trial examines younger subjects between 45–59 years (Smith et al, 2005). The main part of trials summarized in the meta-analysis from Araujo (Araujo et al, 2011) examines aging probands (>59 years). This form of selection bias reduces the validity of predictive value for testosterone on CVD.

Probands in FINRISK 97 are between 25 to 74 years old and were randomly chosen. Involving children as seen in NHANES would lead to misinterpretation, as TT within male aged 6 to 12 years show completely different prepubertal values (Vesper et al, 2015). In contrast to several other population-based cohorts, Finish probands are not only younger but also healthier (Araujo et al, 2010) (Vikan et al, 2010). Additionally, FINRISK 97 has a good linkage to centrally managed registers. External validation of the FINRISK biomarker study took place in other prospective trials like in the Southall And Brent REvisited study (SABRE with n=2622) as well as in the British Women's Heart and Health Study (BWHHS with n=3563) (Tillin et al, 2013; Lawlor et al, 2003; Würtz et al, 2015).

4.4.1.3 Categorization of Testosterone

The use of categorized variables is ambivalent. To simplify the statistics, testosterone levels are divided into quartiles. This allows to compare extreme values with each other and uncovers associations between sub cohorts, which would disappear within the overall association. Comparing these quartiles leads to several problems since two probands with very similar testosterone levels can be in different quartiles. This leads to the assumption that the two probands could show a very different risk prediction, despite similar testosterone level. The imprecision is therefore intensified by implicating a step-function assuming the results of CVD risk estimation within the same quartile show homogenous results and do not vary within each quartile. However, there is no proof for a constant risk within each quartile.

Except for FINRISK 97, quartiles are often distributed not due to the median cutoff-point, but due to statistical significance. Quartiles show ranges of different amplitude and every amplitude shows a different number of participants. Ranges of quartiles differ between studies

(Brand et al, 2014) allowing only restricted comparability between studies. Improvement in risk estimation can be done by adding splines and fractional polynominals to multivariable regressions (Bennette and Vickers, 2012). 4.4.1.4 Multiple Imputation:

Missing data are common in large trials. This influence on results increases with the percentage of missing data (Moons et al, 2012). In FINRISK 97, missing data have not been excluded, but multiple imputations were performed to prevent false estimates by a subsample with completely observed data. The studies as well as metanalysis covering the same objective regarding testosterone and cardiovascular disease did not mention the use of missing data (Ding et al, 2006). The analyses regarding AF/IST and T2D only minimally affected the number of individuals using hypertensive medication as well as changed a bit the median testosterone values. The entire baseline-table with available cases is not shown.

4.5 Limitations of FINRISK 97

Despite many advantages mentioned before, FINRISK 97 also reveals limitations, which need to be considered before drawing possible conclusions.

4.5.1 Testosterone measurement

The chemiluminescent microparticle immunoassay (CMIA) (Abbott ARCHITECT 2^{nd} Generation Testosterone; Abbott Diagnostics) is a one-step direct immunoassay, with several disadvantages. The measurement accuracy is affected by positive falsification when the analyte decreases. The assay quantifies additional and increasing competing compounds besides testosterone (cross-reactivity) (Rowe and Rabet, 2018). It took decades to reduce this so called cross-reactivity between different androgens. The negative bias is generated by the incomplete isolation of SHGB from TT as well as the higher affinity of special substances to the antibody. Additionally, the within-assay inaccuracy is diverse at low concentration being smaller than < 8% at concentrations of > 24 nmol/L and between 6.1 % and 22 % at concentrations of < 3nmol/L (Taieb et al, 2003). The perpetual bias is made by different calibration methods.

In 2001, Taieb et al. compared the Architect i2000 as well as other eleven immunoassays on the basis of 116 men, children and women with an average age of 44.7 years and with a range of 19-71 years regarding testosterone comparability. The internal reference was an isotopedilution gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (ID/GC-MS), which does not have the feature of cross-reactivity or matrix -effect and therefore is the gold standard for androgen measurement especially in probands with low levels (Siekmann, 1979). In accordance with earlier results, all participating assays clearly differed by over- or underestimation from the gold standard especially in women and children. Although the correlation coefficient was between 0.86 and 0.97, the overall underestimation was 12% on average below gold standard (Taieb et al, 2003). The results of the Architect i2000 overestimated testosterone for women twofold but convinced with accurately results for men. Another direct immunoassay called Immulite 2000 have been used for testosterone measurements in the Tromsø Study by Vikan et al. (Vikan et al, 2009), as well as in the EPIC-Norfolk Trial by Khaw et al. (Khaw et al, 2007). In both trials the age-adjusted average testosterone level in men were much lower and showed fivefold diffuse values for women compared with the gold standard (Taieb et al, 2003). Using the Immulite 2000, both trials found a significant association between lower TT as well as fT and a raised mortality in men. The study design these two trials (EPIC Norfolk and the Tromsø study) are similar to FINRISK but differ in terms of testosterone measurement. It could be possible that the different results are based on the inaccuracy of the Immulite 2000 compared to the Architect i2000 in FINRISK 97.

From all eleven participating immunoassays, the Architect I2000 was the only one to receive satisfying results for men regarding testosterone levels at the lower end of the range (Taieb et al, 2003).

In FINRISK 97, male participants with an average age of 49 years had a median TT level of 17.01 nmol/l. A very similar prospective population-based trial of Laaksonen et al. comprising Finish men with an average age of 51.3 years showed a median TT of 18.0 to 20.6 nmol/l (Laaksonen et al, 2004). As similar trials regarding healthy men with comparable age show ambivalent results regarding testosterone and T2D, the question raises if immunoassays are an acceptable method to quantify androgens. Based on the cross-sectional Study of Health in Pomerania (SHIP) (age-range: 40-74 years), Haring et al proved, that immunoassays and ID/GC-MS did only differ regarding three of ten cardiovascular risk factors comprising BMI, serum glucose levels and waist circumference), but not for total testosterone (Haring et al, 2013).

To compare TT around the world, the Endocrine Society sets up harmonized age-adjusted reference ranges for TT in men. Therefore, several community-dwelling cohort studies (FHS, EMAS, MrOS, SIBLOS) with all together over 9000 men were combined and the arithmetic median values for TT were assessed. Different assays have been calibrated by using a reference method at Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) (Travison et al, 2017). Compared to the CDC reference range, the median testosterone level of 17.01 (not adjusted for obesity) with an average age of 49 in FINRISK 97 is in between the 50th and the 75th percentile of the CDC reference. Although the architect I2000 is a sufficient tool for testosterone measurement, it remains a challenge to accurately determine testosterone levels at the lower borderline of testosterone. To improve the results, the testosterone assays should be standardized for gender, age as well as comorbidities (Travison et al, 2017). Besides there is need for a testosterone standard in calibration for all laboratories (Rosner et al, 2007) as well as more than just a single testosterone measurement for each patient. In FINRISK 97 all endpoints have been associated to a single baseline TT measurement. No data is given about the intraindividual variability of TT within the observational time.

4.5.2 Time of testosterone measurement

Blood in FINRISK 97 has been taken throw-out the day. Pearson-correlation-coefficients of TT and time of blood draw revealed that the earlier the blood has been taken during the day, the higher the testosterone level has been in both genders. This finding is in line with a diurnal rhythm of TT, showing high levels in the morning and lower levels in the afternoon (Diver et al, 2003). It has been proven, that the acrophase of TT is between 07:00 and 07:30 AM for young and middle aged men (Diver et al, 2003). 30 minutes after waking, TT is supposed to drop by 32% to 39% of diurnal alteration (Panizzon et al, 2013). Therefore, cox-regression analyses have been adjusted in model 3 for time of blood draw before 2 AM. Considering, that model 3 differs from model 2 due to the confounding factor time of blood draw before 2 PM, the results were not as expected.

Although the association between TT and T2D for men increased in FINRISK 97, the risk estimations for all other endpoints (AF/IST, CHD/mortality) did not change in men and no endpoint changed for women. This finding relativizes the importance which diurnal rhythm exerts on time of testosterone measurement in FINRISK 97. A meaningful diurnal effect would have affected all endpoints. Testosterone rises in healthy young men during daytime for the same amount as for an equivalent span of time during the night. Testosterone falls while awaking and during sleeping disturbances (Axelsson et al, 2005). This small trial with only seven participants shows TT to be regulated by sleeping patterns, making it possible to present similar TT during day and nighttime after long-time-sleeping. Sleeping less than 5 hours during five following nights lowers testosterone levels around 10% -15% in young adults (Leproult and van Cauter, 2011). A daily sleep of less than four hours is associated with significantly reduced (28%) levels of testosterone (Goh et al, 2007).

In another trial, blood was taken every 2.5min from 10 young and 8 old men, while an EEG recorded their sleeping status. The depth of sleeping showed a positive relationship to TT, although none of them used to be hypogonadal. While deep sleep raised TT in young probands, this association could not be found in the older probands. This raises the question, if age has an influence on diurnal rhythm of TT due to the increasing sleeping disturbances in aging men and women.

Sleeping quality and sleeping quantity release over lifetime (Oh et al, 2012). As disturbance of sleeping patterns as well as sleep length have an impact on TT in young healthy men, it is possible to assume an age-related consequence on lower TT due to reduced sleep efficiency. Several trials with men aged from 45 –74 were able to show, that reduced night time sleep is associated with lower TT in the morning (Lord et al, 2014). Sleep quality could be even used as an independent indicator for TT (Penev, 2007). The results in coordinated secretion of

testosterone as well as their regulatory hormones (GnRh/LH) could be embed in a regulatory sleep/wake pathway of the central nervous system, whose function is restricted due to the process of aging (Veldhuis et al, 2000; Garcia-Falgueras et al, 2011).

In summary, the number of sleeping hours in middle aged to older men in FINRISK 97 is important for preserving a diurnal rhythm of TT with high levels in the morning and lower levels in the afternoon. Diminishing diurnal rhythm could be a sign of disturbed nigh sleep or vise verse. Fragmented sleep as well as short time sleep is supposed to have a lowering effect on TT (Axelsson et al, 2005). Upper airway resistance mostly appearing as sleeping apnea (OSAS) is a popular disease especially in aging men (Luboshitzky et al, 2002) as well as an independent risk factor in the finish population for CHD and T2D (Strausz et al, 2018). Due to the upper airway resistance, the oxygen intake is reduced, followed by a disturbed night sleep. OSAS could possibly be a reason for reduced testosterone in the morning as well as diminishing diurnal rhythm. Treating patients suffering from OSAS with continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP) showed ambivalent amelioration of testosterone levels (Wittert, 2014). Future research should consider OSAS as a possible confounding factor. The very small effect of diurnal variation in TT could be caused by sleep disturbances, as sleep shows great influence on TT and sleep quality decreases with age.

On the other side, probands who came in for assessment before 2 PM showed a reduced risk for incident T2D. It could be a possible explanation that older probands with a higher risk for T2D were invited later the day for clinical examination and blood draw. Another explanation could be found in diurnal variations of fasting glucose-levels. The Dawn phenomen as well as the Somogyi effect can cause hyperglycemia in prediabetic as well as unknown diabetic probands (Rybicka et al, 2011). Both syndromes are the result of diminishing glycemic control and show hyperglycemia in the morning, while fasting glucose levels in the afternoon appear to be normal (Bolli et al, 1984). In FINRISK 97, T2D was diagnosed as having a fasting glucose level above 126 ng/dl at baseline. Therefore, probands in the morning would be preferentially diagnosed with T2D and excluded from further analyses compared to probands in the afternoon. The possibility of developing T2D during the next years would be higher in the afternoon group. This hypothesis however assumes that asymptomatic prediabetes and T2D distributed evenly throughout the day.

4.5.3 Confounding factors

4.5.3.1 Medication

Medication can interfere with testosterone as well as with the endpoint. Aging is associated with increasing comorbidities and consistently increasing medication use. In FINRISK 97, only blood pressure medication was taken into account. Popular conventional drugs with an impact on testosterone are explained in the following to point out, whether this consideration is sufficient or if additional confounding factors should be included in future population-based trials.

Oral contraception (COC) therapies are widespread around the world but so far not included in any population-based study. They reduce the TT level by hampering androgen synthesis and increasing SHGB. A meta-analysis of 1495 healthy young women (between 18–40 years) found an average decrease of 31 % in TT during combined oral contraception (Zimmerman et al, 2014). The COC probably constrains testosterone synthesis by inhibiting the ovarian (Kuhl et al, 1985) as well as the adrenal androgen synthesis (Fern et al, 1978). Further analyses regarding testosterone in women should consider COC as well as other hormone therapy as confounding factor.

Due to the Narcotics Control Board (INCB), the consumption of morphine increased sevenfold from 1970 to 1998. While opioid consumption in the United States, Australia, New Zealand and many European countries extensively raised during the last decades, many low income countries as well as Finland, France, Ireland and Switzerland showed a declining or low level remaining use of opioids untill 2016 (Bosetti et al, 2019). The WHO assumes, that 66 % of the world population is not able to get opioid medication to release pain and only 7.5 % is able to benefit from opioids. Opioids are more and more consumed by patients suffering pain from non-malignant origin. (Duthey and Scholten, 2014). A meta-analysis in 2015 including 17 trials with 800 probands using opioids as well as 1969 controls demonstrated approximately 50 % lower testosterone levels in men, but not in women (Bawor et al, 2015). The opioid-induced androgen deficiency (OPIAD) is well known (O'Rourke and Wosnitzer, 2016), but there is an ongoing debate, which daily morphine-dose induces hypogonadism and which opioid is more likely to develop hypogonadism. Morphine can down regulate the hypothalamic-pituitary-axis and therefore reduces the testosterone secretion (Gabriel et al, 1985; Vuong et al, 2010). But chronic abuse does not have to be causal for low TT. Testosterone is supposed to have an antinociceptive effect on the temporomandibular joint (Fischer et al, 2007), as well as modulating the µ-opioid receptor (MOR) and therefore to reduce pain. By influencing the endogenous opioid system, low TT may be a marker for pain and hyperalgesia (Coluzzi et al, 2018). In summary, the use of opioids in an aging society with chronic pain is increasing and therefore the impact of opioids on TT raises. No data about opioid use have been collected in

FINRISK 97. However, it can be assumed, that the impact of opioid on the testosterone level is small due to the low prevalence of opioid use in Finland compared to other European countries as well as the USA. Additional population-based trials are required.

Cholesterol is indispensable for the synthesis of testosterone. Statins and HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors lower cholesterol levels by reducing the de-novo synthesis of cholesterol in the liver. Considering that cholesterol is ingested sufficiently, no impact on testosterone level would be assumed. However, a recent meta-analysis of Schooling et al. reported a significant average decline in TT in men by about 4 % and by about 11 % in women (Alemao et al, 2006). Probands took statins mostly in a dose-rate ranging from 20 to 40 mg per day (Schooling et al, 2013). There is no information about statin use in FINRISK 97, but it is suggested. that "[...] nearly all of the decrease in serum cholesterol levels was explained by dietary changes" (Alemao. 2006. p353; (Alemao et al, 2006). Statin therapy receives an increasing importance in primary and secondary prevention of atherosclerotic CVD and as first line therapy for hypercholesterinemia (Cao and Devaraj, 2019). It is very likely, that the continuous decline in median cholesterol level since the beginning of FINRISK in 1972 (Alemao et al, 2006) will continue as well in the future for both genders (Cao and Devaraj, 2019). It is therefore necessary for future trials to take statins as potential confounders into account. Due to the linear regression analysis of FINRISK, TT and total cholesterol-levels are not associated in both genders. This could be partly caused by the negligible amount of statin-users in 1997 as well as the interindividual difficulty to achieve total cholesterol level < 5mmol/l despite moderate statin therapy (Alemao et al, 2006).

Although alcohol-use has not been examined in FINRISK 97, it can have an impact on the TT. While acute alcohol intoxication reduces TT in healthy men (Välimäki et al, 1990) and raises TT in women (Sarkola et al, 2001), the influence of chronic alcohol intake on TT is ambivalent. While most trials were not able to find an effect of moderate alcohol use on TT, a large trial among European and American men reported young and old men frequently drinking more than 24 units alcohol within a week having higher (Alemao et al, 2006) TT (1.0 nmol/L) compared to men drinking 1–10 units a week (Jensen et al, 2014). These results have been confirmed for men and women by a meta-analysis of three population-based cohorts from Finland (Würtz et al, 2015). This specific confounder should be included in further examinations.

In Finrisk 97 no information is collected about the use of secondary prevention therapy in CVD except for antihypertensive medication. Although the overall benefit of Aspirin as primary prevention in the aging population is not certain (Baigent et al, 2009; Gaziano et al, 2018), Aspirin has been proven to reduce the risk of recurrent vascular events for about 25%

(Antithrombotic Trialists' Collaboration, 2002). The benefit of oral anticoagulation for secondary prevention has been demonstrated in patients with AF (López-López et al, 2017).

4.5.3.2 Stability of testosterone in serum

Blood has been stored for 20 years until it was analyzed (Zeller et al, 2018). This long span of time raises concerns, if testosterone values are falsified due to decomposition processes during storage and conservation. A study measured TT of four different periods ranging from one month, four years, 17 years to 29 years, using liquid chromatography. Before measurement, blood has been stored at -25°C. Interestingly, the oldest samples showed the highest TT (Gislefoss et al, 2012). But this trial could not prove if TT increases due to storage time, or if men had higher TT 29 years ago. Another trial analyzed blood samples in pregnant women, using the Immulite 2000, a chemiluminescent EIA. TT could not be associated to the storage time (Holl et al, 2008). Stability of male testosterone levels for 10 years at -70°C has also been described in another study (Cauley et al, 1987). Significant alterations in TT of blood, which has been stored for 20 years, are possible, but there is lack of evidence. Therefore, TT of FINRISK measured in 1997 are valid after 20 years of storage. It would be interesting, if the average TT of Finish probands has decreased during the last years.

4.5.3.3 Hyperthyreoidism

Hyperthyroidism in the Finish population is prevalent in 2.6 % of women and in 0.6 % of men with increasing tendency in aging. The estimated number of undiagnosed cases is much higher (Bjoro et al, 2000). Furthermore, the overall incidence of hyperthyroidism has raised within the last years (Leese et al, 2008). Hyperthyroidism is associated to a 20 % increased risk of severe CVD events as well as mortality in subclinical hyperthyroidism as well as 65 % increased risk for CVD in patients with known hyperthyroidism (Dekkers et al, 2017; Brandt et al, 2013). The risk for CVD morbidity remains higher compared to the healthy population even decades after thyroidectomy (Ryödi et al, 2014). The functionality of the thyroid gland is tightly connected to TT as triiodothyronine (T3) stimulates SHGB synthesis and SHGB correlates with the functionality of the thyroid gland in the peripheral tissue (La Vignera et al, 2017). Considering that SHGB tightly binds 20 –40 % of all testosterone depending on sex, TT varies with SHGB level (Goldman et al, 2017). Therefore, it can be assumed, that not only hyperthyroidism but also the thyroid function has an influence on TT as well as the cardiovascular endpoint. Further epidemiologic trials should take this specific confounding factor into account.

4.5.3.4 Subfractions of testosterone and cardiovascular risk

The FRS found SHGB independently associated to an increased risk for metabolic syndrome. Even after adjustment of cardiovascular risk factors, the association remained significant in contrast to TT (Bhasin et al, 2011). Another trial found lower SHBG to be independently associated to incident T2D even after adjustment of TT or fT (Lakshman et al, 2010). In contrast, the increased risk for T2D and metabolic syndrome lost statistical significance after adjustment of SHGB (Bhasin et al, 2011).

Similar inverse relation between SHBG and T2D have been found in women as well (Fenske et al, 2015; Muka et al, 2017). Besides, lower SHGB levels have been associated to an adverse cardiovascular risk profile in men (Canoy et al, 2014) as well as in women (Goodman-Gruen and Barrett-Connor, 1996) and is even sometimes stronger associated to increased CVD risk profile compared to TT (Brand and Schouw, Y T van der, 2010). The results regarding low free testosterone and CVD are heterogenous, but several epidemiological trials found a positive association between lower free testosterone and higher risk for overall mortality and stroke (Hyde et al, 2012; Yeap et al, 2014; Yeap, 2015). In another trial fT lost statistically significance, while lower TT was associated with T2D (Lakshman et al, 2010). Due to the strong link between TT and protein-bound testosterone, further analyses of FINRISK should consider SHBG and albumin as confounding factors.

5. Summary and Conclusion

In contrast to most existing population-based trials, FINRISK compares both genders, comprises a substantial number of healthy participants, offers a long observation time of 13 years as well as the inclusion of young probands (median age 47– 49 years) at baseline.

The results of FINRISK 97 reveal the sex-specific risk prediction based on TT to suffer from T2D or a cardiovascular disease (AF/IST) within the observation time of 13 years. Not only hypogonadal men but also men with very low to normal values of TT have an increased risk for T2D and for AF/IST. These results are independent from cardiovascular risk factors, especially adiposity. On the other side, women with very low to low TT have a decreased risk of developing T2D and AF and/or IST compared to women with high TT. However, the statistical significance gets lost after the adjustment for cardiovascular risk factors. No predictive value of TT could be found in both sexes for CHD and mortality.

All cardiovascular risk factors are significantly associated to all endpoints. Except for total cholesterol and HDL, every included cardiovascular risk factor is positively associated to all endpoints. Interestingly, these risk factors had a much greater influence on risk prediction in men than in women. Obese men had a tenfold increased risk for T2D compared to obese women. In contrast to the literature, T2D was not determined as a risk factor for IST in patients with baseline AF. Total cholesterol showed an inverse correlation not only to AF and/or IST. Geographical differences between western and eastern Finland in disease distribution for men still existed. Men in Finland faced a much higher risk for CHD, IST, AF, T2D and mortality compared to women.

Despite many important results of this study, FINRISK has several limitations. Important confounding factors such as SHGB, blood-thinners, alcohol, OCT, opioids, statins as well as individuals under testosterone supplementation, which have an influence on TT or on one of the endpoints, were not considered. In women, no cardiovascular risk factor showed a statistically significant association to the endpoint or to TT. Body composition markers (BMI, WHR) did not correlate with TT although changes in body composition due to testosterone alterations were proven. Therefore, future research should consider additional confounding factors especially for women.

Diurnal rhythm of TT had a negligible effect on TT in FINRISK 97. A possible explanation could be the diminishing diurnal rhythm of aging men due to increasing sleep disturbances. Sleep quality or sleep quantity should be involved in future research.

Additionally, it is questionable if the TT values are valid due to the insufficiency of chemiluminescent immunoassay for TT measurement in women and men with borderline values. Future studies should prefer liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. All

participating laboratories should implement standardized calibration methods for TT measurement.

A further limitation is that the blood sampling in FINRISK 97 is based on only one serum and one measurement from each patient. Intraindividual changes in TT during the observation time were not considered. The blood was stored for 20 years. Falsifications of measurement cannot be excluded as the impact of long-term storing on testosterone cannot be regarded as certain.

The risk prediction beyond 13 years is unclear. Considering the Kaplan-Meier survival curves for AF and/or IST as well as T2D however, it is possible to see a trend within the observation time. Over 13 years the survival curves for each quartile become more and more segregated. Assuming a further linear development, the differences in risk prediction among different quartiles would grow leading to a higher risk for men with low TT compared to men with high TT beyond 13 years.

More than 70 % of all CVD deaths occur in low- and middle-income countries of Asia and Africa. Nevertheless, most of trials like FINRISK were set up in Europe and in the USA. Therefore, all prediction models are only suitable for Northern Europe and not validated in African and Asian populations. There is a trend of developing new models, repeating the same trials as well as finding new biomarkers instead of validating and improving the common prediction models to receive generalizability between different populations and continents (Damen, Johanna A A G et al, 2016 May 16).

The results of FINRISK 97 regarding TT and the association with CVD and overall mortality can be summarized in two possible hypotheses. Firstly, TT modifies cardiovascular risk factors like adiposity or lipids and therefore increases the risk for T2D and AF/IST. Secondly, TT influences the endpoint with indirect effects on vascular tone, lipid and glucose metabolism (Kaufman and Vermeulen, 2005; Sievers et al. 2010). TT has also an influence on cardiovascular risk factors as well as T2D and ischemic events. Although the impact is small, it illustrates the importance of TT for the general health. In general, high TT in men and low TT in women could be seen as a good marker for cardiovascular health and as an independent risk marker for T2D. Due to reciprocal relationship between TT and the endpoints AF and/or IST as well as T2D, it is not possible to find a causal correlation.

The results of FINRISK 97 confirm the sex-specific predictive value of testosterone for both genders and especially draws attention to healthy and middle-aged individuals. Due to the impact of TT on the cardiovascular health, TT should be tested for further existing cardiovascular risk prediction models (Chock et al, 2012) and should be used in the clinical setting for both genders to evaluate the individual risk.

5. Summary and Conclusion

However, low TT in men should not be substituted to raise the value and reduce the statistical risk for future cardiovascular events or T2D since the impact of substituted testosterone on a hormonal imbalance are still not clear. The increased rate of cardiovascular events due to testosterone therapy emphasize the danger of the allegedly harmless testosterone substitution. A focus should be put on adiposity. Reducing WHR in men can not only reduce the risk for CVD and T2D but also increase TT.

6. Zusammenfassung

6. Zusammenfassung

Im Gegensatz zu den meisten bestehenden bevölkerungsbasierten Studien vergleicht FINRISK beide Geschlechter, bezieht eine erhebliche Zahl an gesunden Probanden ein und bietet einen langen Beobachtungszeitraum von 13 Jahren sowie vergleichsweise junge Probanden (Durchschnittsalter von 47–50 Jahren).

Die Ergebnisse von FINRISK 97 zeigen den geschlechtsspezifischen Vorhersagewert des Gesamt-Testosterons in Bezug auf das Risiko T2D oder kardiovaskuläre Erkrankungen innerhalb des Beobachtungszeitraums von 13 Jahren zu erleiden. Nicht nur hypogonadale Männer, sondern auch Männer mit geringen bis normalen Werten von TT haben ein erhöhtes Risiko für T2D und AF/IST. Diese Ergebnisse sind unabhängig von kardiovaskulären Risikofaktoren, speziell Fettleibigkeit. Auf der anderen Seite haben Frauen mit niedrigen TT ein kleineres Risiko, an T2D und AF/IST zu erkranken, als Frauen mit hohem TT. Diese statistische Signifikanz geht allerdings verloren, sobald die Ergebnisse an kardiovaskuläre Risikofaktoren angepasst werden (WHR, BMI). Für beide Geschlechter konnte kein Vorhersagewert von TT bezogen auf CHD oder Sterblichkeit bestimmt werden.

Unter Berücksichtigung von kardiovaskulären Risikofaktoren vergrößerte sich das Risiko für alle Endpunkte. Diese Faktoren hatten einen viel größeren Einfluss auf die Risikovorhersage bei Männern als bei Frauen. Adipöse Männer hatten ein zehnfach größeres Risiko für T2D als adipöse Frauen. Abweichend von der Literatur wurde T2D bei Patienten, die bereits AF hatten, nicht als Risikofaktor für das Auftreten von zerebralen Ischämien erkannt. Das Gesamt Cholesterin zeigte eine negative Korrelation sowohl zu AF als auch zu IST.

Geographische Unterschiede in der Krankheitsverteilung existierten nach wie vor bei Männern zwischen dem Westen und Osten Finnlands. Hierbei zeigten die finnischen Männer ein höheres Risiko für CHD, IST, AF, T2D und die Gesamt-Mortalität als finnische Frauen.

Trotz vieler wichtiger Ergebnisse dieser Studie hat FINRISK einige Limitationen: Wichtige Faktoren wie SHGB, Blutverdünner, Alkohol, OCT, Opioide, Statine sowie einzelne Personen mit supplementärem Testosteron, welche einen Einfluss auf TT oder auf einen der Endpunkte haben, wurden nicht berücksichtigt. In Frauen wurde kein statistisch signifikanter Zusammenhang zwischen kardiovaskulären Risikofaktoren und einem Endpunkt oder TT nachgewiesen. Marker der Körperbeschaffenheit (BMI, WHR) korrelierten nicht mit TT obwohl Veränderungen der Fettmasse und Muskelmasse hervorgerufen durch Veränderungen des

Testosterons in Frauen bereits nachgewiesen wurden. Daher sind weitere Studien notwendig, um den prädiktiven Wert mittels zusätzlicher Störfaktoren präzise vorherzusagen.

Darüber hinaus ist es aufgrund der Insuffizienz der Chemilumineszenz-Immunoassays für TT Messungen bei Frauen im Allgemeinen und Männern mit niedrigen Grenzwerten fraglich, ob die TT Werte gültig sind. Zukünftige Studien sollten bevorzugt Flüssigkeitschromatographie/Tandem-Massenspektrometrie für die Messungen verwenden. Alle teilnehmenden Labore sollten standardisierte Kalibrierungsmethoden für TT Messungen verwenden.

Eine weitere Limitierung ist, dass die Blutentnahme in FINRISK 97 auf nur einer Blutentnahme und einer Messung pro Teilnehmer basiert. Intraindividuelle Veränderungen in TT wurde damit nicht mit einbezogen. Das Blut wurde für 20 Jahre gelagert. Verfälschungen der Messungen können nicht ausgeschlossen werden, da der Einfluss auf eine Langzeit-Lagerung bisher nicht ausreichend untersucht worden ist.

Der prädiktive Wert über 13 Jahre hinaus ist unklar. Unter Berücksichtigung der Kaplan-Meier Überlebenskurven für AF und IST sowie für T2D ist es aber möglich, einen Trend innerhalb der Beobachtungszeit festzustellen. Über 13 Jahre teilte sich die Überlebenskurve für jedes Quartile mehr und mehr auf. Wird eine weitere lineare Entwicklung vorausgesetzt, würden die Unterschiede der Risikovorhersage innerhalb der verschiedenen Quartile weiter wachsen, was zu einem höheren Risiko für Männer mit niedrigem TT verglichen mit hohem TT führen würde.

Mehr als 70 % aller CVD Tode betreffen Menschen in asiatischen und afrikanischen Ländern mit geringem oder mittlerem Einkommen. Dennoch stammen die meisten großen epidemiologischen Studien wie FINRISK aus Europa oder den USA. Alle Vorhersagemodelle sind daher lediglich für Nordeuropa oder die USA gültig und können nicht auf Afrika oder Asien bezogen werden.

Die Ergebnisse von FINRISK bezüglich TT und der Assoziation zu CVD und Sterblichkeit können in zwei Hypothesen zusammengefasst werden. Erstens modifiziert TT kardiovaskuläre Risikofaktoren wie Fettleibigkeit oder Lipide und verändert damit das Risiko an Diabetes Mellitus Typ 2 oder Vorhofflimmern mit oder ohne zerebrale Ischämie zu erkranken. Zweitens beeinflusst TT das Entstehen kardiovaskulärer Erkrankungen durch indirekte Auswirkungen auf den Gefäßtonus, Lipid- und Glucose-Metabolismus. TT hat Einfluss auf kardiovaskuläre Risikofaktoren, Diabetes mellitus Typ 2 und ischämische Ereignisse. Trotz eines geringen Einflusses auf kardiovaskuläre Risikofaktoren wird die Wichtigkeit von TT auf die Gesundheit deutlich. Generell konnte ein hoher TT Wert in Männern und ein niedriger TT Wert in Frauen als ein guter Marker für die kardiovaskuläre Gesundheut und als ein unabhängiger Risikomarker für T2D betrachtet werden. Aufgrund der wechselseitigen Beziehung zwischen

TT und den Endpunkten AF und IST sowie T2D ist es nicht möglich eine kausale Korrelation festzustellen.

Die Ergebnisse aus FINRISK 97 bestätigen Testosteron als prädiktiven Marker für beide Geschlechter und konzentriert die Aufmerksamkeit auf die gesunde Bevölkerungsschicht mittleren Alters, die ein zunehmendes Risiko für kardiovaskuläre Erkrankungen und Diabetes Mellitus Typ 2 entwickelt. Neben der Anwendung im FRS sollte Testosteron in weiteren Risikoprädiktionsmodellen getestet werden (Chock et al, 2012) und zunehmend auch im klinischen Setting der Primärprävention genutzt werden, um das individuelle Risiko für kardiovaskuläre Erkrankungen besser einschätzen zu können. Jedoch sollten niedrige Testosteron Werte nicht mittels Substitution ausgeglichen werden, um damit das statistische Risiko für kardiovaskuläre Erkrankungen zu reduzieren. Die Auswirkungen von substituiertem Testosteron auf ein hormonelles Ungleichgewicht sind immer noch unklar und eine erhöhte Anzahl an kardiovaskuläre Ereignissen nach Testosteron Substitution verdeutlicht die Gefährlichkeit der vermeintlich harmlosen Testosteron Substitution. Ein Schwerpunkt sollte auf die Reduktion von Fettleibigkeit gelegt werden, da hiermit das Risiko für Diabetes Mellitus Typ 2 und kardiovaskuläre Erkrankungen effektiv reduziert werden und gleichzeitig der Testosteron Spiegel bei Männern erhöht werden kann.

7. Liste der aus der Dissertation hervorgegangenen Vorveröffentlichungen

- Zeller T, Schnabel RB, Appelbaum S, Ojeda F, Berisha F, Schulte-Steinberg B, et al. Low testosterone levels are predictive for incident atrial fibrillation and ischaemic stroke in men, but protective in women - results from the FINRISK study. Eur J Prev Cardiol. 2018;25(11):1133–9. doi:10.1177/2047487318778346.
- Karakas M, Schäfer S, Appelbaum S, Ojeda F, Kuulasmaa K, Brückmann B, et al. Testosterone Levels and Type 2 Diabetes—No Correlation with Age, Differential Predictive Value in Men and Women. Biomolecules 2018. doi:10.3390/biom8030076.

8. Table of Figures

Figure 1: Age adjusted survival curves for T2D2	23
Figure 2: Age adjusted survival curves for T2D with truncated y-axis2	23
Figure 3: age-adjusted Kaplan-Meier-Survival-Curves for absence of AF	
and/or IST during observational time. Categorized testosterone is shown.	
First quartile represents the lowest, the fourth quartile represents the highest	st
quartile2	29
Figure 4: age-adjusted Kaplan-Meier-Survival-Curves (truncated for y-axis)	
for absence of AF and/or IST during observational time Categorized	
testosterone is shown. First quartile represents the lowest, the fourth quartil	е
represents the highest quartile2	29
Figure 5: age-adjusted Kaplan-Meier-Survival-Curves for absence of CHD	
(Def. 4) during observational time in men. Categorized testosterone is	
shown. First quartile represents the lowest, the fourth quartile represents th	е
highest quartile	31
Figure 6: Age-adjusted Kaplan-Meier-Survival-Curves for absence of CHD	
(Def: 4) during observational time in women. Categorized testosterone is	
shown. The first quartile represents the lowest, the fourth quartile represent	s
the highest quartile	31
Figure 7: age-adjusted Kaplan-Meier-Survival-Curves for absence of mortali	ty
during observational time in men. Categorized testosterone is shown. The	
first quartile represents the highest, the fourth quartile represents the lowes	t
quartile	33
Figure 8: age-adjusted Kaplan-Meier-Survival-Curves for absence of mortali	ty
during observational time in women. Categorized testosterone is shown. The	
	;
first quartile represents the highest, the fourth quartile represents the lowes	e e

9. List of Tables

Table 1: Characteristics of subjects in FINRISK 97	.16
Table 2 Classification of TT (normalized median values)	.17
Table 3: Age-adjusted Pearson correlation coefficients of testosterone levels with clinical	
variables	.18
Table 4: Cox Regressions: TT and T2D for men and women	.20
Table 5: Cox Regressions: clinical variables and T2D for men	.21
Table 6: Cox Regressions: clinical variables and T2D for women	.22
Table 7: Cox Regressions: TT and AF and/or IST	.26
Table 8: Cox Regressions: clinical variables and AF and/or IST in men	.27
Table 9: Cox Regressions: TT and AF and/or/IST in women	.28
Table 10: Cox regressions: TT and CHD (Def. 4) for men and women	.30
Table 11: Cox regressions: TT and mortality in men and women	.32

10. List of Abbreviations

AF/IST: Atrial Fibrillation and/or Ischemic Stroke	1, 36, 38, 52, 57, 59
AIDS: Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome	6
AM: ante meridiem	
AR: Androgen receptor	
BMI: Body-Mass-Index14, 15, 16, 17, 37	7, 45, 46, 49, 50, 56
BWHHS: British Women's Heart and Health Study	35
CAD: Coronary artery disease	9, 55
CDC: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention	
CHD: Coronary heart disease), 38, 55, 56, 57, 60
CMIA: Chemiluminiscent Microparticle Immunoassay	12, 36
CVD: Cardiovascular disease	5, 44, 55, 57, 58, 59
EMAS: European Male Aeging Study	7, 38
EPIC: European Prospective Investigation of Cancer study	
FDA: Food and Drug Administration	
FHS: Framingham Heart Study	4, 38
FRS: Framingham risk score	4, 5, 9, 10, 35;
Framingham Risk Score	
fT: free testosterone	6
GWAS: Genome-wide association study	34
<i>HR</i> : Hazard Ratio17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 23	3, 25, 26, 27, 29, 31
ID/GC-MS: isotope-dilution gas chromatography-mass spectrometry	
LOH: Late-onset hypogonadism	7
MI: Myocardial Infarction	4, 15
MrOS study: Osteoporotic Fractures in Men study	
NHANES: National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey	34, 35
SABRE: Southall And Brent REvisited	35
SHGB: Sex hormone-binding globulin	34, 36, 40, 52, 58
SHIP: Study of Health in Pomerania	37, 57
SIBLOS: Longitudinal Extension Phase of Sibling Pair Linkage Analysis	
SNP: single-nucleotide polymorphism	34
T2D: Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus 3, 4, 9, 10, 14, 15, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22,	, 23, 25, 26, 27, 29,
31, 36, 37, 38, 39, 44, 46, 47, 48, 49, 50, 51, 52, 54, 55, 56, 57, 59, 60	
T3: Triiodothyronine	43
TIA: Transient ischemic attack	
TOM-trial: Testosterone in Older Men with limited mobility	8
---	-------
TT: Total testosterone6, 7, 8, 11, 14, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 23, 25, 26, 27, 29, 36, 38, 39	, 40,
45, 46, 47, 48, 49, 50, 51, 54, 55, 56, 57	
UKPDS: United Kingdom Prospective T2D Study	4

11. References

- Abbott RD, Launer LJ, Rodriguez BL, Ross GW, Wilson PWF, Masaki KH, et al. Serum estradiol and risk of stroke in elderly men. Neurology. 2007;68(8):563–8. doi:10.1212/01.wnl.0000254473.88647.ca.
- Alemao E, Yin D, Sintonen H, Salomaa V, Jousilahti P. Evaluation of Lipid-Lowering Therapy and Cholesterol Goal Attainment in Finland. American Journal of Cardiovascular Drugs. 2006;6(5):349–55. doi:10.2165/00129784-200606050-00008.
- Antithrombotic Trialists' Collaboration. Collaborative meta-analysis of randomised trials of antiplatelet therapy for prevention of death, myocardial infarction, and stroke in high risk patients. BMJ. 2002;324(7329):71–86. doi:10.1136/bmj.324.7329.71.
- Araujo AB, Hall SA, Ganz P, Chiu GR, Rosen RC, Kupelian V, et al. Does erectile dysfunction contribute to cardiovascular disease risk prediction beyond the Framingham risk score? Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2010;55(4):350–6. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2009.08.058.
- Araujo AB, Dixon JM, Suarez EA, Murad MH, Guey LT, Wittert GA. Clinical review: Endogenous testosterone and mortality in men: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2011;96(10):3007–19. doi:10.1210/jc.2011-1137.
- Archer DF. Premature menopause increases cardiovascular risk. Climacteric. 2009;12 Suppl 1:26–31.
- ARCHITECT i2000SR Immunoassay | Abbott Core Laboratory. https://www.corelaboratory.abbott/int/de/offerings/brands/architect/architect-i2000SR. Accessed 26 Feb 2019.
- Asih PR, Tegg ML, Sohrabi H, Carruthers M, Gandy SE, Saad F, et al. Multiple Mechanisms Linking Type 2 Diabetes and Alzheimer's Disease: Testosterone as a Modifier. J Alzheimers Dis. 2017;59(2):445–66. doi:10.3233/JAD-161259.
- Axelsson J, Ingre M, Åkerstedt T, Holmbäck U. Effects of Acutely Displaced Sleep on Testosterone. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2005;90(8):4530–5. doi:10.1210/jc.2005-0520.
- Azur MJ, Stuart EA, Frangakis C, Leaf PJ. Multiple Imputation by Chained Equations: What is it and how does it work? Int J Methods Psychiatr Res. 2011;20(1):40–9. doi:10.1002/mpr.329.
- Baigent C, Blackwell L, Collins R, Emberson J, Godwin J, Peto R, et al. Aspirin in the primary and secondary prevention of vascular disease: collaborative meta-analysis of individual participant data from randomised trials: Aspirin in the primary and secondary prevention of vascular disease: collaborative meta-analysis of individual participant data from randomised trials. Lancet. 2009;373(9678):1849–60. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(09)60503-1.
- Barbieri RL, Ryan KJ. Hyperandrogenism, insulin resistance, and acanthosis nigricans syndrome: a common endocrinopathy with distinct pathophysiologic features. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1983;147(1):90–101.
- Barrett-Connor E. Menopause, atherosclerosis, and coronary artery disease. Curr Opin Pharmacol. 2013;13(2):186–91. doi:10.1016/j.coph.2013.01.005.

- Basaria S, Coviello AD, Travison TG, Storer TW, Farwell WR, Jette AM, et al. Adverse events associated with testosterone administration. N Engl J Med. 2010;363(2):109–22. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1000485.
- Bawor M, Bami H, Dennis BB, Plater C, Worster A, Varenbut M, et al. Testosterone suppression in opioid users: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Drug Alcohol Depend. 2015;149:1–9. doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2015.01.038.
- Benjamin EJ, Blaha MJ, Chiuve SE, Cushman M, Das SR, Deo R, et al. Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics—2017 Update: A Report From the American Heart Association. Circulation. 2017;135(10):e146-603. doi:10.1161/CIR.000000000000485.
- Bennette C, Vickers A. Against quantiles: categorization of continuous variables in epidemiologic research, and its discontents. BMC Med Res Methodol. 2012;12:21. doi:10.1186/1471-2288-12-21.
- Bhasin S, Jasjua GK, Pencina M, D'Agostino R, Coviello AD, Vasan RS, Travison TG. Sex hormone-binding globulin, but not testosterone, is associated prospectively and independently with incident metabolic syndrome in men: the framingham heart study. Diabetes Care. 2011;34(11):2464–70. doi:10.2337/dc11-0888.
- Bjoro T, Holmen J, Krüger O, Midthjell K, Hunstad K, Schreiner T, et al. Prevalence of thyroid disease, thyroid dysfunction and thyroid peroxidase antibodies in a large, unselected population. The Health Study of Nord-Trondelag (HUNT). Eur J Endocrinol. 2000;143(5):639–47.
- Blankenberg S, Zeller T, Saarela O, Havulinna AS, Kee F, Tunstall-Pedoe H, et al. Contribution of 30 biomarkers to 10-year cardiovascular risk estimation in 2 population cohorts: the MONICA, risk, genetics, archiving, and monograph (MORGAM) biomarker project. Circulation. 2010;121(22):2388–97. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.901413.
- Bogaert V, Vanbillemont G, Taes Y, Bacquer D de, Deschepper E, van Steen K, Kaufman J-M. Small effect of the androgen receptor gene GGN repeat polymorphism on serum testosterone levels in healthy men. Eur J Endocrinol. 2009;161(1):171–7. doi:10.1530/EJE-09-0123.
- Bolli GB, Feo PD, Cosmo SD, Perriello G, Ventura MM, Calcinaro F, et al. Demonstration of a Dawn Phenomenon in Normal Human Volunteers. Diabetes. 1984;33(12):1150–3. doi:10.2337/diab.33.12.1150.
- Borodulin K, Vartiainen E, Peltonen M, Jousilahti P, Juolevi A, Laatikainen T, et al. Forty-year trends in cardiovascular risk factors in Finland. Eur J Public Health. 2015;25(3):539–46. doi:10.1093/eurpub/cku174.
- Bosetti C, Santucci C, Radrezza S, Erthal J, Berterame S, Corli O. Trends in the consumption of opioids for the treatment of severe pain in Europe, 1990-2016. Eur J Pain. 2019;23(4):697–707. doi:10.1002/ejp.1337.
- Bouchard C, Despres JP, Mauriege P. Genetic and nongenetic determinants of regional fat distribution. Endocr Rev. 1993;14(1):72–93. doi:10.1210/edrv-14-1-72.
- Brand JS, Schouw, Y T van der. Testosterone, SHBG and cardiovascular health in postmenopausal women. Int J Impot Res. 2010;22(2):91. doi:10.1038/ijir.2009.64.

- Brand JS, Rovers MM, Yeap BB, Schneider HJ, Tuomainen T-P, Haring R, et al. Testosterone, Sex Hormone-Binding Globulin and the Metabolic Syndrome in Men: An Individual Participant Data Meta-Analysis of Observational Studies. PLoS ONE 2014. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0100409.
- Brandt F, Thvilum M, Almind D, Christensen K, Green A, Hegedüs L, Brix TH. Morbidity before and after the diagnosis of hyperthyroidism: a nationwide register-based study. PLoS ONE. 2013;8(6):e66711. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0066711.
- Burger HG, Dudley EC, Cui J, Dennerstein L, Hopper JL. A Prospective Longitudinal Study of Serum Testosterone, Dehydroepiandrosterone Sulfate, and Sex Hormone-Binding Globulin Levels through the Menopause Transition. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2000;85(8):2832–8. doi:10.1210/jcem.85.8.6740.
- Cadagan D, Khan R, Amer S. Thecal cell sensitivity to luteinizing hormone and insulin in polycystic ovarian syndrome. Reproductive Biology. 2016;16(1):53–60. doi:10.1016/j.repbio.2015.12.006.
- Canoy D, Barber TM, Pouta A, Hartikainen AL, McCarthy MI, Franks S, et al. Serum sex hormone-binding globulin and testosterone in relation to cardiovascular disease risk factors in young men: a population-based study. Eur J Endocrinol. 2014;170(6):863–72. doi:10.1530/EJE-13-1046.
- Cao J, Devaraj S. Recent AHA/ACC guidelines on cholesterol management expands the role of the clinical laboratory. Clin Chim Acta. 2019;495:82–4. doi:10.1016/j.cca.2019.04.002.
- Cauley JA, Gutai JP, Kuller LH, Dai WS. Usefulness of sex steroid hormone levels in predicting coronary artery disease in men. Am J Cardiol. 1987;60(10):771–7. doi:10.1016/0002-9149(87)91021-6.
- Center for Drug Evaluation and Research. Drug Safety and Availability FDA Drug Safety Communication: FDA cautions about using testosterone products for low testosterone due to aging; requires labeling change to inform of possible increased risk of heart attack and stroke with use. https://www.fda.gov/Drugs/DrugSafety/ucm436259.htm. Accessed 20 Feb 2019.
- Chen Y-P, Nie L-L, Li H-G, Liu T-H, Fang F, Zhao K, et al. The rs5934505 single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) is associated with low testosterone and late-onset hypogonadism, but the rs10822184 SNP is associated with overweight and obesity in a Chinese Han population: a case-control study. Andrology. 2016;4(1):68–74. doi:10.1111/andr.12127.
- Chock B, Lin T-C, Li C-S, Swislocki A. Plasma testosterone is associated with Framingham risk score. Aging Male. 2012;15(3):134–9. doi:10.3109/13685538.2011.654369.
- Coluzzi F, Billeci D, Maggi M, Corona G. Testosterone deficiency in non-cancer opioidtreated patients. J Endocrinol Invest. 2018;41(12):1377–88. doi:10.1007/s40618-018-0964-3.
- Cooney MT, Dudina AL, Graham IM. Value and Limitations of Existing Scores for the Assessment of Cardiovascular Risk: A Review for Clinicians. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2009;54(14):1209–27. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2009.07.020.
- Cornoldi A, Caminiti G, Marazzi G, Vitale C, Patrizi R, Volterrani M, et al. Effects of chronic testosterone administration on myocardial ischemia, lipid metabolism and insulin resistance in elderly male diabetic patients with coronary artery disease. Int J Cardiol. 2010;142(1):50–5. doi:10.1016/j.ijcard.2008.12.107.

- Corona G, Rastrelli G, Monami M, Saad F, Luconi M, Lucchese M, et al. Body weight loss reverts obesity-associated hypogonadotropic hypogonadism: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur J Endocrinol. 2013;168(6):829–43. doi:10.1530/EJE-12-0955.
- Corona G, Maseroli E, Rastrelli G, Isidori AM, Sforza A, Mannucci E, Maggi M. Cardiovascular risk associated with testosterone-boosting medications: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Expert Opin Drug Saf. 2014;13(10):1327–51. doi:10.1517/14740338.2014.950653.
- Couillard C, Gagnon J, Bergeron J, Leon AS, Rao DC, Skinner JS, et al. Contribution of body fatness and adipose tissue distribution to the age variation in plasma steroid hormone concentrations in men: the HERITAGE Family Study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2000;85(3):1026–31. doi:10.1210/jcem.85.3.6427.
- Davis SR, Wahlin-Jacobsen S. Testosterone in women—the clinical significance. The Lancet Diabetes & Endocrinology. 2015;3(12):980–92. doi:10.1016/S2213-8587(15)00284-3.
- Dekkers OM, Horváth-Puhó E, Cannegieter SC, Vandenbroucke JP, Sørensen HT, Jørgensen JOL. Acute cardiovascular events and all-cause mortality in patients with hyperthyroidism: a population-based cohort study. Eur J Endocrinol. 2017;176(1):1–9. doi:10.1530/EJE-16-0576.
- Derby CA, Zilber S, Brambilla D, Morales KH, McKinlay JB. Body mass index, waist circumference and waist to hip ratio and change in sex steroid hormones: the Massachusetts Male Ageing Study. Clinical Endocrinology. 2006;65(1):125–31. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2265.2006.02560.x.
- Dhindsa S, Furlanetto R, Vora M, Ghanim H, Chaudhuri A, Dandona P. Low Estradiol Concentrations in Men With Subnormal Testosterone Concentrations and Type 2 Diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2011;34(8):1854–9. doi:10.2337/dc11-0208.
- Dhindsa S, Ghanim H, Batra M, Kuhadiya ND, Abuaysheh S, Sandhu S, et al. Insulin Resistance and Inflammation in Hypogonadotropic Hypogonadism and Their Reduction After Testosterone Replacement in Men With Type 2 Diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2016;39(1):82–91. doi:10.2337/dc15-1518.
- Diamond MP, Grainger D, Diamond MC, Sherwin RS, Defronzo RA. Effects of methyltestosterone on insulin secretion and sensitivity in women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1998;83(12):4420–5. doi:10.1210/jcem.83.12.5333.
- Dimopoulou C, Ceausu I, Depypere H, Lambrinoudaki I, Mueck A, Pérez-López FR, et al. EMAS position statement: Testosterone replacement therapy in the aging male. Maturitas. 2016;84:94–9. doi:10.1016/j.maturitas.2015.11.003.
- Ding EL, Song Y, Malik VS, Liu S. Sex differences of endogenous sex hormones and risk of type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA. 2006;295(11):1288–99. doi:10.1001/jama.295.11.1288.
- Ding EL, Song Y, Manson JE, Rifai N, Buring JE, Liu S. Plasma sex steroid hormones and risk of developing type 2 diabetes in women: a prospective study. Diabetologia. 2007;50(10):2076–84. doi:10.1007/s00125-007-0785-y.
- Diver MJ, Imtiaz KE, Ahmad AM, Vora JP, Fraser WD. Diurnal rhythms of serum total, free and bioavailable testosterone and of SHBG in middle-aged men compared with those in young men. Clinical Endocrinology. 2003;58(6):710–7. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2265.2003.01772.x.

- Dobrzycki S, Serwatka W, Nadlewski S, Korecki J, Jackowski R, Paruk J, et al. An assessment of correlations between endogenous sex hormone levels and the extensiveness of coronary heart disease and the ejection fraction of the left ventricle in males. J Med Invest. 2003;50(3-4):162–9.
- Dunaif A. Insulin Resistance and the Polycystic Ovary Syndrome: Mechanism and Implications for Pathogenesis. Endocr Rev. 1997;18(6):774–800. doi:10.1210/edrv.18.6.0318.
- Dunn JF, Nisula BC, Rodbard D. Transport of steroid hormones: binding of 21 endogenous steroids to both testosterone-binding globulin and corticosteroid-binding globulin in human plasma. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1981;53(1):58–68. doi:10.1210/jcem-53-1-58.
- Duthey B, Scholten W. Adequacy of Opioid Analgesic Consumption at Country, Global, and Regional Levels in 2010, Its Relationship With Development Level, and Changes Compared With 2006. Journal of Pain and Symptom Management. 2014;47(2):283–97. doi:10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2013.03.015.
- Eisenhofer G, Peitzsch M, Kaden D, Langton K, Pamporaki C, Masjkur J, et al. Reference intervals for plasma concentrations of adrenal steroids measured by LC-MS/MS: Impact of gender, age, oral contraceptives, body mass index and blood pressure status. Clin Chim Acta. 2017;470:115–24. doi:10.1016/j.cca.2017.05.002.
- Eisner JR, Dumesic DA, Kemnitz JW, Abbott DH. Timing of prenatal androgen excess determines differential impairment in insulin secretion and action in adult female rhesus monkeys. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2000;85(3):1206–10. doi:10.1210/jcem.85.3.6453.
- Elbers JM, Asscheman H, Seidell JC, Megens JA, Gooren LJ. Long-term testosterone administration increases visceral fat in female to male transsexuals. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1997;82(7):2044–7. doi:10.1210/jcem.82.7.4078.
- Ellison PT, Bribiescas RG, Bentley GR, Campbell BC, Lipson SF, Panter-Brick C, Hill K. Population variation in age-related decline in male salivary testosterone. Hum Reprod. 2002;17(12):3251–3.
- Fan W, Yanase T, Nomura M, Okabe T, Goto K, Sato T, et al. Androgen Receptor Null Male Mice Develop Late-Onset Obesity Caused by Decreased Energy Expenditure and Lipolytic Activity but Show Normal Insulin Sensitivity With High Adiponectin Secretion. Diabetes. 2005;54(4):1000–8. doi:10.2337/diabetes.54.4.1000.
- Fenske B, Kische H, Gross S, Wallaschofski H, Völzke H, Dörr M, et al. Endogenous Androgens and Sex Hormone-Binding Globulin in Women and Risk of Metabolic Syndrome and Type 2 Diabetes. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2015;100(12):4595–603. doi:10.1210/jc.2015-2546.
- Fern M, Rose DP, Fern EB. Effect of oral contraceptives on plasma androgenic steroids and their precursors. Obstet Gynecol. 1978;51(5):541–4.
- Fink G, Pfaff DW, Levine J. Handbook of Neuroendocrinology. Saint Louis: Elsevier Science; 2014.
- Finkelstein JS, Lee H, Burnett-Bowie S-AM, Pallais JC, Yu EW, Borges LF, et al. Gonadal Steroids and Body Composition, Strength, and Sexual Function in Men. New England Journal of Medicine. 2013;369(11):1011–22. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1206168.

- Finkle WD, Greenland S, Ridgeway GK, Adams JL, Frasco MA, Cook MB, et al. Increased risk of non-fatal myocardial infarction following testosterone therapy prescription in men. PLoS ONE. 2014;9(1):e85805. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0085805.
- Fischer L, Clemente JT, Tambeli CH. The protective role of testosterone in the development of temporomandibular joint pain. J Pain. 2007;8(5):437–42. doi:10.1016/j.jpain.2006.12.007.
- Flaherty ML, Kissela B, Khoury JC, Alwell K, Moomaw CJ, Woo D, et al. Carotid Artery Stenosis as a Cause of Stroke. Neuroepidemiology. 2013;40(1):36–41. doi:10.1159/000341410.
- Foley JE, Kashiwagi A, Chang H, Huecksteadt TP, Lillioja S, Verso MA, Reaven G. Sex difference in insulin-stimulated glucose transport in rat and human adipocytes. Am J Physiol. 1984;246(3 Pt 1):E211-5. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.1984.246.3.E211.
- Fox JH, Licholai T, Green G, Dunaif A. Differential effects of oral glucose-mediated versus intravenous hyperinsulinemia on circulating androgen levels in women. Fertil Steril. 1993;60(6):994–1000.
- Gabriel SM, Simpkins JW, Kalra SP, Kalra PS. Chronic morphine treatment induces hypersensitivity to testosterone-negative feedback in castrated male rats. Neuroendocrinology. 1985;40(1):39–44. doi:10.1159/000124049.
- Gambineri A, Pelusi C, Vicennati V, Pagotto U, Pasquali R. Obesity and the polycystic ovary syndrome. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord. 2002;26(7):883–96. doi:10.1038/sj.ijo.0801994.
- Garaulet M, Perex-Llamas F, Fuente T, Zamora S, Tebar FJ. Anthropometric, computed tomography and fat cell data in an obese population: relationship with insulin, leptin, tumor necrosis factor-alpha, sex hormone-binding globulin and sex hormones. Eur J Endocrinol. 2000;143(5):657–66.
- Garcia-Falgueras A, Ligtenberg L, Kruijver FPM, Swaab DF. Galanin neurons in the intermediate nucleus (InM) of the human hypothalamus in relation to sex, age, and gender identity. J Comp Neurol. 2011;519(15):3061–84. doi:10.1002/cne.22666.
- Gaziano JM, Brotons C, Coppolecchia R, Cricelli C, Darius H, Gorelick PB, et al. Use of aspirin to reduce risk of initial vascular events in patients at moderate risk of cardiovascular disease (ARRIVE): a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. The Lancet. 2018;392(10152):1036–46. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31924-X.
- Ghanim H, Dhindsa S, Abuaysheh S, Batra M, Kuhadiya ND, Makdissi A, et al. Diminished androgen and estrogen receptors and aromatase levels in hypogonadal diabetic men: reversal with testosterone. Eur J Endocrinol. 2018;178(3):277–83. doi:10.1530/EJE-17-0673.
- Giral H, Landmesser U, Kratzer A. Into the Wild: GWAS Exploration of Non-coding RNAs. Front Cardiovasc Med. 2018;5:181. doi:10.3389/fcvm.2018.00181.
- Gislefoss RE, Grimsrud TK, Høie K, Mørkrid L. Stability of testosterone measured in male archival serum samples by two different methods. Scand J Clin Lab Invest. 2012;72(7):555–62. doi:10.3109/00365513.2012.705888.

- Goh VHH, Tong TYY, Mok HPP, Said B. Interactions among age, adiposity, bodyweight, lifestyle factors and sex steroid hormones in healthy Singaporean Chinese men. Asian J Androl. 2007;9(5):611–21. doi:10.1111/j.1745-7262.2007.00322.x.
- Goldman AL, Bhasin S, Wu FCW, Krishna M, Matsumoto AM, Jasuja R. A Reappraisal of Testosterone's Binding in Circulation: Physiological and Clinical Implications. Endocr Rev. 2017;38(4):302–24. doi:10.1210/er.2017-00025.
- Goodman-Gruen D, Barrett-Connor E. A prospective study of sex hormone-binding globulin and fatal cardiovascular disease in Rancho Bernardo men and women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1996;81(8):2999–3003. doi:10.1210/jcem.81.8.8768865.
- Grossmann M. Hypogonadism and male obesity: Focus on unresolved questions. Clinical Endocrinology. 2018;89(1):11–21. doi:10.1111/cen.13723.
- Grossmann M, Hoermann R, Wittert G, Yeap BB. Effects of testosterone treatment on glucose metabolism and symptoms in men with type 2 diabetes and the metabolic syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled clinical trials. Clinical Endocrinology. 2015;83(3):344–51. doi:10.1111/cen.12664.
- Group, The Stroke Risk in Atrial Fibrillation Working. Independent predictors of stroke in patients with atrial fibrillation: A systematic review. Neurology. 2007;69(6):546–54. doi:10.1212/01.wnl.0000267275.68538.8d.
- Guo S, Cichy SB, He X, Yang Q, Ragland M, Ghosh AK, et al. Insulin suppresses transactivation by CAAT/enhancer-binding proteins beta (C/EBPbeta). Signaling to p300/CREB-binding protein by protein kinase B disrupts interaction with the major activation domain of C/EBPbeta. J Biol Chem. 2001;276(11):8516–23. doi:10.1074/jbc.M008542200.
- Gupta SK, Lindemulder EA, Sathyan G. Modeling of Circadian Testosterone in Healthy Men and Hypogonadal Men. The Journal of Clinical Pharmacology. 2000;40(7):731–8. doi:10.1177/00912700022009486.
- Hackett G, Kirby M. Erectile dysfunction and testosterone deficiency as cardiovascular risk factors? Int J Clin Pract 2018. doi:10.1111/ijcp.13054.
- Haffner SM, Valdez RA. Endogenous sex hormones: impact on lipids, lipoproteins, and insulin. Am J Med. 1995;98(1A):40S-47S.
- Haffner SM, Mykkanen L, Valdez RA, Katz MS. Relationship of sex hormones to lipids and lipoproteins in nondiabetic men. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1993;77(6):1610–5. doi:10.1210/jcem.77.6.8263149.
- Hamilton EJ, Davis WA, Makepeace A, Lim EM, Yeap BB, Peters KE, Davis TME. Prevalence and prognosis of a low serum testosterone in men with type 2 diabetes: the Fremantle Diabetes Study Phase II. Clinical Endocrinology. 2016;85(3):444–52. doi:10.1111/cen.13087.
- Hammond GL. Plasma steroid-binding proteins: primary gatekeepers of steroid hormone action. Journal of Endocrinology. 2016;230(1):R13-25. doi:10.1530/JOE-16-0070.
- Harden KP, Kretsch N, Tackett JL, Tucker-Drob EM. Genetic and Environmental Influences on Testosterone in Adolescents: Evidence for Sex Differences. Dev Psychobiol. 2014;56(6):1278–89. doi:10.1002/dev.21207.

- Haring R, Baumeister SE, Nauck M, Völzke H, Keevil BG, Brabant G, Wallaschofski H. Testosterone and cardiometabolic risk in the general population - the impact of measurement method on risk associations: a comparative study between immunoassay and mass spectrometry. Eur J Endocrinol. 2013;169(4):463–70. doi:10.1530/EJE-13-0222.
- Harris JA, Vernon PA, Boomsma DI. The heritability of testosterone: a study of Dutch adolescent twins and their parents. Behav Genet. 1998;28(3):165–71.
- Haslam DW, James WPT. Obesity. The Lancet. 2005;366(9492):1197–209. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(05)67483-1.
- Heidenreich PA, Trogdon JG, Khavjou OA, Butler J, Dracup K, Ezekowitz MD, et al. Forecasting the future of cardiovascular disease in the United States: a policy statement from the American Heart Association. Circulation. 2011;123(8):933–44. doi:10.1161/CIR.0b013e31820a55f5.
- Heinrich PC, Müller M, Graeve L. Löffler/Petrides Biochemie und Pathobiochemie. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg; 2014.
- Holl K, Lundin E, Kaasila M, Grankvist K, Afanasyeva Y, Hallmans G, et al. Effect of longterm storage on hormone measurements in samples from pregnant women: the experience of the Finnish Maternity Cohort. Acta Oncol. 2008;47(3):406–12. doi:10.1080/02841860701592400.
- Hollander M, Hak AE, Koudstaal PJ, Bots ML, Grobbee DE, Hofman A, et al. Comparison between measures of atherosclerosis and risk of stroke: the Rotterdam Study. Stroke. 2003;34(10):2367–72. doi:10.1161/01.STR.0000091393.32060.0E.
- Holmäng A, Larsson BM, Brzezinska Z, Björntorp P. Effects of short-term testosterone exposure on insulin sensitivity of muscles in female rats. Am J Physiol. 1992;262(6 Pt 1):E851-5. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.1992.262.6.E851.
- Holmegard HN, Nordestgaard BG, Jensen GB, Tybjærg-Hansen A, Benn M. Sex Hormones and Ischemic Stroke: A Prospective Cohort Study and Meta-Analyses. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2016;101(1):69–78. doi:10.1210/jc.2015-2687.
- Hughes MF, Appelbaum S, Havulinna AS, Jagodzinski A, Zeller T, Kee F, et al. ST2 may not be a useful predictor for incident cardiovascular events, heart failure and mortality. Heart. 2014;100(21):1715–21. doi:10.1136/heartjnl-2014-305968.
- Huhtaniemi IT, Tajar A, Lee DM, O'Neill TW, Finn JD, Bartfai G, et al. Comparison of serum testosterone and estradiol measurements in 3174 European men using platform immunoassay and mass spectrometry; relevance for the diagnostics in aging men. Eur J Endocrinol. 2012;166(6):983–91. doi:10.1530/EJE-11-1051.
- Hyde Z, Norman PE, Flicker L, Hankey GJ, Almeida OP, McCaul KA, et al. Low free testosterone predicts mortality from cardiovascular disease but not other causes: the Health in Men Study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2012;97(1):179–89. doi:10.1210/jc.2011-1617.
- Hyun KK, Redfern J, Patel A, Peiris D, Brieger D, Sullivan D, et al. Gender inequalities in cardiovascular risk factor assessment and management in primary healthcare. Heart. 2017;103(7):492–8. doi:10.1136/heartjnl-2016-310216.

- Ilondo MM, Vanderschueren-Lodeweyckx M, Vlietinck R, Pizarro M, Malvaux P, Eggermont E, Eeckels R. Plasma androgens in children and adolescents. Part I: control subjects. Horm Res. 1982;16(2):61–77.
- Jenny NS, Olson NC, Allison MA, Rifkin DE, Daniels LB, Boer IH de, et al. Biomarkers of Key Biological Pathways in CVD. Glob Heart. 2016;11(3):327-336.e3. doi:10.1016/j.gheart.2016.07.003.
- Jensen TK, Swan S, Jørgensen N, Toppari J, Redmon B, Punab M, et al. Alcohol and male reproductive health: a cross-sectional study of 8344 healthy men from Europe and the USA. Hum Reprod. 2014;29(8):1801–9. doi:10.1093/humrep/deu118.
- Jones TH. Testosterone Associations with Erectile Dysfunction, Diabetes, and the Metabolic Syndrome. European Urology Supplements. 2007;6(16):847–57. doi:10.1016/j.eursup.2007.07.002.
- Joseph P, Leong D, McKee M, Anand SS, Schwalm J-D, Teo K, et al. Reducing the Global Burden of Cardiovascular Disease, Part 1: The Epidemiology and Risk Factors. Circ Res. 2017;121(6):677–94. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117.308903.
- Kaczmarek A, Reczuch K, Majda J, Banasiak W, Ponikowski P. The association of lower testosterone level with coronary artery disease in postmenopausal women. Int J Cardiol. 2003;87(1):53–7. doi:10.1016/S0167-5273(02)00203-6.
- Kalish GM, Barrett-Connor E, Laughlin GA, Gulanski BI. Association of Endogenous Sex Hormones and Insulin Resistance among Postmenopausal Women: Results from the Postmenopausal Estrogen/Progestin Intervention Trial. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2003;88(4):1646–52. doi:10.1210/jc.2002-021375.
- Karakas M, Schäfer S, Appelbaum S, Ojeda F, Kuulasmaa K, Brückmann B, et al. Testosterone Levels and Type 2 Diabetes—No Correlation with Age, Differential Predictive Value in Men and Women. Biomolecules 2018. doi:10.3390/biom8030076.
- Kaufman JM, Vermeulen A. The Decline of Androgen Levels in Elderly Men and Its Clinical and Therapeutic Implications. Endocr Rev. 2005;26(6):833–76. doi:10.1210/er.2004-0013.
- Kaufman JM, Lapauw B, Mahmoud A, T'Sjoen G, Huhtaniemi IT. Aging and the Male Reproductive System. Endocr Rev 2019. doi:10.1210/er.2018-00178.
- Keller JL, Casson PR, Toth MJ. RELATIONSHIP OF ANDROGENS TO BODY COMPOSITION, ENERGY AND SUBSTRATE METABOLISM AND AEROBIC CAPACITY IN HEALTHY, YOUNG WOMEN. Steroids. 2011;76(12):1247–51. doi:10.1016/j.steroids.2011.06.001.
- Kelly DM, Jones TH. Testosterone and obesity. Obesity Reviews. 2015;16(7):581–606. doi:10.1111/obr.12282.
- Kelsey TW, Li LQ, Mitchell RT, Whelan A, Anderson RA, Wallace WHB. A Validated Age-Related Normative Model for Male Total Testosterone Shows Increasing Variance but No Decline after Age 40 Years. PLoS ONE 2014. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0109346.
- Khaw K-T, Barrett-Connor E. Lower endogenous androgens predict central adiposity in men. Annals of Epidemiology. 1992;2(5):675–82. doi:10.1016/1047-2797(92)90012-F.
- Khaw K-T, Dowsett M, Folkerd E, Bingham S, Wareham N, Luben R, et al. Endogenous testosterone and mortality due to all causes, cardiovascular disease, and cancer in men:

European prospective investigation into cancer in Norfolk (EPIC-Norfolk) Prospective Population Study. Circulation. 2007;116(23):2694–701. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.107.719005.

- Khaw KT, Barrett-Connor E. Endogenous sex hormones, high density lipoprotein cholesterol, and other lipoprotein fractions in men. Arterioscler Thromb. 1991;11(3):489–94.
- Khot UN, Khot MB, Bajzer CT, Sapp SK, Ohman EM, Brener SJ, et al. Prevalence of conventional risk factors in patients with coronary heart disease. JAMA. 2003;290(7):898–904. doi:10.1001/jama.290.7.898.
- Ko D, Rahman F, Schnabel RB, Yin X, Benjamin EJ, Christophersen IE. Atrial fibrillation in women: epidemiology, pathophysiology, presentation, and prognosis. Nat Rev Cardiol. 2016;13(6):321–32. doi:10.1038/nrcardio.2016.45.
- Koenis MMG, Brouwer RM, van Baal GCM, van Soelen ILC, Peper JS, van Leeuwen M, et al. Longitudinal study of hormonal and physical development in young twins. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2013;98(3):E518-27. doi:10.1210/jc.2012-3361.
- Kolodziejczyk B, Duleba AJ, Spaczynski RZ, Pawelczyk L. Metformin therapy decreases hyperandrogenism and hyperinsulinemia in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. Fertil Steril. 2000;73(6):1149–54. doi:10.1016/S0015-0282(00)00501-X.
- Kuhl H, Gahn G, Romberg G, März W, Taubert HD. A randomized cross-over comparison of two low-dose oral contraceptives upon hormonal and metabolic parameters: I. Effects upon sexual hormone levels. Contraception. 1985;31(6):583–93.
- La Vignera S, Vita R, Condorelli RA, Mongioì LM, Presti S, Benvenga S, Calogero AE. Impact of thyroid disease on testicular function. Endocrine. 2017;58(3):397–407. doi:10.1007/s12020-017-1303-8.
- Laaksonen DE, Niskanen L, Punnonen K, Nyyssönen K, Tuomainen T-P, Valkonen V-P, et al. Testosterone and sex hormone-binding globulin predict the metabolic syndrome and diabetes in middle-aged men. Diabetes Care. 2004;27(5):1036–41.
- Lai J, Zhou D, Xia S, Shang Y, Want L, Zheng L, Zhu J. Reduced testosterone levels in males with lone atrial fibrillation. Clinical Cardiology. 2009;32(1):43–6. doi:10.1002/clc.20423.
- Lakshman KM, Bhasin S, Araujo AB. Sex Hormone–Binding Globulin as an Independent Predictor of Incident Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus in Men. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2010;65A(5):503–9. doi:10.1093/gerona/glq002.
- Laughlin GA, Goodell V, Barrett-Connor E. Extremes of Endogenous Testosterone Are Associated with Increased Risk of Incident Coronary Events in Older Women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2010;95(2):740–7. doi:10.1210/jc.2009-1693.
- Lawlor DA, Bedford C, Taylor M, Ebrahim S. Geographical variation in cardiovascular disease, risk factors, and their control in older women: British Women's Heart and Health Study. J Epidemiol Community Health. 2003;57(2):134–40.
- Leenen R, van der Kooy K, Seidell JC, Deurenberg P, Koppeschaar HP. Visceral fat accumulation in relation to sex hormones in obese men and women undergoing weight loss therapy. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1994;78(6):1515–20. doi:10.1210/jcem.78.6.8200956.

- Leese GP, Flynn RV, Jung RT, Macdonald TM, Murphy MJ, Morris AD. Increasing prevalence and incidence of thyroid disease in Tayside, Scotland: the Thyroid Epidemiology Audit and Research Study (TEARS). Clinical Endocrinology. 2008;68(2):311–6. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2265.2007.03051.x.
- Legro RS, Kunselman AR, Dodson WC, Dunaif A. Prevalence and Predictors of Risk for Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and Impaired Glucose Tolerance in Polycystic Ovary Syndrome: A Prospective, Controlled Study in 254 Affected Women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1999;84(1):165–9. doi:10.1210/jcem.84.1.5393.
- Leproult R, van Cauter E. Effect of 1 week of sleep restriction on testosterone levels in young healthy men. JAMA. 2011;305(21):2173–4. doi:10.1001/jama.2011.710.
- Liu PY, Death AK, Handelsman DJ. Androgens and cardiovascular disease. Endocr Rev. 2003;24(3):313–40. doi:10.1210/er.2003-0005.
- López-López JA, Sterne JAC, Thom HHZ, Higgins JPT, Hingorani AD, Okoli GN, et al. Oral anticoagulants for prevention of stroke in atrial fibrillation: systematic review, network meta-analysis, and cost effectiveness analysis. BMJ. 2017;359:j5058. doi:10.1136/bmj.j5058.
- Lord C, Sekerovic Z, Carrier J. Sleep regulation and sex hormones exposure in men and women across adulthood. Pathologie Biologie. 2014;62(5):302–10. doi:10.1016/j.patbio.2014.07.005.
- Luboshitzky R, Aviv A, Hefetz A, Herer P, Shen-Orr Z, Lavie L, Lavie P. Decreased pituitarygonadal secretion in men with obstructive sleep apnea. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2002;87(7):3394–8. doi:10.1210/jcem.87.7.8663.
- Ludwig M, Petzinger-Kruthoff A von, Buquoy M von, Stumpe KO. Intima media thickness of the carotid arteries: early pointer to arteriosclerosis and therapeutic endpoint. Ultraschall Med. 2003;24(3):162–74. doi:10.1055/s-2003-40058.
- M. Moustapha, K. Hoad, BR. Cooke, C.Mandelt. Evaluation of Architect 2nd Generation Testosterone Assay Compared With Liquid Chromatography-Isotope Dilution Tandem Mass Spectrometry.
- Magnani JW, Moser CB, Murabito JM, Sullivan LM, Wang N, Ellinor PT, et al. Association of Sex Hormones, Aging and Atrial Fibrillation in Men: The Framingham Heart Study. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol. 2014;7(2):307–12. doi:10.1161/CIRCEP.113.001322.
- Magnussen C, Niiranen TJ, Ojeda FM, Gianfagna F, Blankenberg S, Njølstad I, et al. Sex Differences and Similarities in Atrial Fibrillation Epidemiology, Risk Factors and Mortality in Community Cohorts: Results from the BiomarCaRE Consortium. Circulation. 2017;136(17):1588–97. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.117.028981.
- Mäkinen JI, Perheentupa A, Irjala K, Pöllänen P, Mäkinen J, Huhtaniemi I, Raitakari OT. Endogenous testosterone and serum lipids in middle-aged men. Atherosclerosis. 2008;197(2):688–93. doi:10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2007.05.009.
- Marquette CA, Blum LJ. Chemiluminescent enzyme immunoassays: a review of bioanalytical applications. Bioanalysis. 2009;1(7):1259–69. doi:10.4155/bio.09.69.
- Mendrick DL, Diehl AM, Topor LS, Dietert RR, Will Y, La Merrill MA, et al. Metabolic Syndrome and Associated Diseases: From the Bench to the Clinic. Toxicol Sci. 2018;162(1):36–42. doi:10.1093/toxsci/kfx233.

- Meyer EJ, Wittert G. Endogenous testosterone and mortality risk. Asian J Androl. 2018;20(2):115–9. doi:10.4103/aja.aja_70_17.
- Micic D, Popovic V, Nesovic M, Sumarac M, Dragasevic M, Kendereski A, et al. Androgen levels during sequential insulin euglycemic clamp studies in patients with polycystic ovary disease. J Steroid Biochem. 1988;31(6):995–9.
- Miller KK. Androgen deficiency: effects on body composition. Pituitary. 2008;12(2):116. doi:10.1007/s11102-008-0121-7.
- Mondragón-Ceballos R, García Granados MD, Cerda-Molina AL, Chavira-Ramírez R, Hernández-López LE. Waist-to-Hip Ratio, but Not Body Mass Index, Is Associated with Testosterone and Estradiol Concentrations in Young Women. Int J Endocrinol. 2015;2015:654046. doi:10.1155/2015/654046.
- Moons KGM, Donders RART, Stijnen T, Harrell FE. Using the outcome for imputation of missing predictor values was preferred. J Clin Epidemiol. 2006;59(10):1092–101. doi:10.1016/j.jclinepi.2006.01.009.
- Moons KGM, Kengne AP, Woodward M, Royston P, Vergouwe Y, Altman DG, Grobbee DE. Risk prediction models: I. Development, internal validation, and assessing the incremental value of a new (bio)marker. Heart. 2012;98(9):683–90. doi:10.1136/heartjnl-2011-301246.
- Muka T, Oliver-Williams C, Kunutsor S, Laven JSE, Fauser, Bart C. J. M., Chowdhury R, et al. Association of Age at Onset of Menopause and Time Since Onset of Menopause With Cardiovascular Outcomes, Intermediate Vascular Traits, and All-Cause Mortality: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. JAMA Cardiol. 2016;1(7):767–76. doi:10.1001/jamacardio.2016.2415.
- Muka T, Nano J, Jaspers L, Meun C, Bramer WM, Hofman A, et al. Associations of Steroid Sex Hormones and Sex Hormone–Binding Globulin With the Risk of Type 2 Diabetes in Women: A Population-Based Cohort Study and Meta-analysis. Diabetes. 2017;66(3):577–86. doi:10.2337/db16-0473.
- Navarro G, Allard C, Xu W, Mauvais-Jarvis F. The role of androgens in metabolism, obesity, and diabetes in males and females. Obesity. 2015;23(4):713–9. doi:10.1002/oby.21033.
- NCD Risk Factor Collaboration. Worldwide trends in diabetes since 1980: a pooled analysis of 751 population-based studies with 4.4 million participants. Lancet. 2016;387(10027):1513–30. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(16)00618-8.
- Nestler JE, Jakubowicz DJ, Falcon de Vargas A, Brik C, Quintero N, Medina F. Insulin Stimulates Testosterone Biosynthesis by Human Thecal Cells from Women with Polycystic Ovary Syndrome by Activating Its Own Receptor and Using Inositolglycan Mediators as the Signal Transduction System. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1998;83(6):2001–5. doi:10.1210/jcem.83.6.4886.
- Niccoli T, Partridge L. Ageing as a risk factor for disease. Curr Biol. 2012;22(17):R741-52. doi:10.1016/j.cub.2012.07.024.
- Nuutila P, Knuuti MJ, Maki M, Laine H, Ruotsalainen U, Teras M, et al. Gender and insulin sensitivity in the heart and in skeletal muscles. Studies using positron emission tomography. Diabetes. 1995;44(1):31–6.

- O'Neal WT, Nazarian S, Alonso A, Heckbert SR, Vaccarino V, Soliman EZ. Sex Hormones and the Risk of Atrial Fibrillation: The Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis (MESA). Endocrine. 2017;58(1):91–6. doi:10.1007/s12020-017-1385-3.
- Oh J-Y, Barrett-Connor E, Wedick NM, Wingard DL. Endogenous sex hormones and the development of type 2 diabetes in older men and women: the Rancho Bernardo study. Diabetes Care. 2002;25(1):55–60.
- Oh MM, Kim JW, Jin MH, Kim JJ, Du Moon G. Influence of paradoxical sleep deprivation and sleep recovery on testosterone level in rats of different ages. Asian J Androl. 2012;14(2):330–4. doi:10.1038/aja.2011.153.
- Ohlsson C, Barrett-Connor E, Bhasin S, Orwoll E, Labrie F, Karlsson MK, et al. High serum testosterone is associated with reduced risk of cardiovascular events in elderly men. The MrOS (Osteoporotic Fractures in Men) study in Sweden. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2011;58(16):1674–81. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2011.07.019.
- Olsen TS, Christensen RHB, Kammersgaard LP, Andersen KK. Higher total serum cholesterol levels are associated with less severe strokes and lower all-cause mortality: ten-year follow-up of ischemic strokes in the Copenhagen Stroke Study. Stroke. 2007;38(10):2646–51. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA.107.490292.
- O'Rourke TK, Wosnitzer MS. Opioid-Induced Androgen Deficiency (OPIAD): Diagnosis, Management, and Literature Review. Curr Urol Rep. 2016;17(10):76. doi:10.1007/s11934-016-0634-y.
- Pajunen P, Koukkunen H, Ketonen M, Jerkkola T, Immonen-Räihä P, Kärjä-Koskenkari P, et al. The validity of the Finnish Hospital Discharge Register and Causes of Death Register data on coronary heart disease. Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil. 2005;12(2):132–7.
- Panizzon MS, Hauger R, Jacobson KC, Eaves LJ, York TP, Prom-Wormley E, et al. Genetic and Environmental Influences of Daily and Intra-individual Variation in Testosterone Levels in Middle-Aged Men. Psychoneuroendocrinology. 2013;38(10):2163–72. doi:10.1016/j.psyneuen.2013.04.003.
- Penev PD. Association Between Sleep and Morning Testosterone Levels In Older Men. Sleep. 2007;30(4):427–32. doi:10.1093/sleep/30.4.427.
- Petering RC, Brooks NA. Testosterone Therapy: Review of Clinical Applications. Am Fam Physician. 2017;96(7):441–9.
- Pitteloud N, Hardin M, Dwyer AA, Valassi E, Yialamas M, Elahi D, Hayes FJ. Increasing insulin resistance is associated with a decrease in Leydig cell testosterone secretion in men. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2005;90(5):2636–41. doi:10.1210/jc.2004-2190.
- Polderman KH, Gooren LJ, Asscheman H, Bakker A, Heine RJ. Induction of insulin resistance by androgens and estrogens. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1994;79(1):265–71. doi:10.1210/jcem.79.1.8027240.
- Rao PM, Kelly DM, Jones TH. Testosterone and insulin resistance in the metabolic syndrome and T2DM in men. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2013;9(8):479–93. doi:10.1038/nrendo.2013.122.
- Ravens U. Sex differences in cardiac electrophysiology. Can J Physiol Pharmacol. 2018;96(10):985–90. doi:10.1139/cjpp-2018-0179.

- Rosano GMC, Sheiban I, Massaro R, Pagnotta P, Marazzi G, Vitale C, et al. Low testosterone levels are associated with coronary artery disease in male patients with angina. Int J Impot Res. 2007;19(2):176–82. doi:10.1038/sj.ijir.3901504.
- Rosenberg MA, Shores MM, Matsumoto AM, Bůžková P, Lange LA, Kronmal RA, et al. Serum androgens and risk of atrial fibrillation in older men: The Cardiovascular Health Study. Clinical Cardiology. 2018;41(6):830–6. doi:10.1002/clc.22965.
- Rosner W, Auchus RJ, Azziz R, Sluss PM, Raff H. Utility, Limitations, and Pitfalls in Measuring Testosterone: An Endocrine Society Position Statement. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2007;92(2):405–13. doi:10.1210/jc.2006-1864.
- Rowe C, Rabet S. Potential interference in the Abbott Architect 2nd generation total testosterone assay. Ann Clin Biochem. 2018;55(5):621–2. doi:10.1177/0004563218780888.
- Ruige JB, Mahmoud AM, Bacquer D de, Kaufman J-M. Endogenous testosterone and cardiovascular disease in healthy men: a meta-analysis. Heart. 2011;97(11):870–5. doi:10.1136/hrt.2010.210757.
- Ruwanpathirana T, Owen A, Reid CM. Review on Cardiovascular Risk Prediction. Cardiovascular Therapeutics. 2015;33(2):62–70. doi:10.1111/1755-5922.12110.
- Rybicka M, Krysiak R, Okopien B. The dawn phenomenon and the Somogyi effect two phenomena of morning hyperglycaemia. Endokrynol Pol. 2011;62(3):276–84.
- Ryödi E, Salmi J, Jaatinen P, Huhtala H, Saaristo R, Välimäki M, et al. Cardiovascular morbidity and mortality in surgically treated hyperthyroidism - a nation-wide cohort study with a long-term follow-up. Clinical Endocrinology. 2014;80(5):743–50. doi:10.1111/cen.12359.
- Sarkola T, Adlercreutz H, Heinonen S, Pahlen B von der, Eriksson CJP. The Role of the Liver in the Acute Effect of Alcohol on Androgens in Women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2001;86(5):1981–5. doi:10.1210/jcem.86.5.7486.
- Schaffrath G, Kische H, Gross S, Wallaschofski H, Völzke H, Dörr M, et al. Association of sex hormones with incident 10-year cardiovascular disease and mortality in women. Maturitas. 2015;82(4):424–30. doi:10.1016/j.maturitas.2015.08.009.
- Schipf S, Haring R, Friedrich N, Nauck M, Lau K, Alte D, et al. Low total testosterone is associated with increased risk of incident type 2 diabetes mellitus in men: results from the Study of Health in Pomerania (SHIP). Aging Male. 2011;14(3):168–75. doi:10.3109/13685538.2010.524955.
- Schnabel RB. Can we predict the occurrence of atrial fibrillation? Clinical Cardiology. 2012;35 Suppl 1:5–9. doi:10.1002/clc.20963.
- Schooling CM, Au Yeung SL, Freeman G, Cowling BJ. The effect of statins on testosterone in men and women, a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. BMC Med. 2013;11:57. doi:10.1186/1741-7015-11-57.
- Seo D-C, Choe S, Torabi MR. Is waist circumference ≥102/88cm better than body mass index ≥30 to predict hypertension and diabetes development regardless of gender, age group, and race/ethnicity? Meta-analysis. Preventive Medicine. 2017;97:100–8. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2017.01.012.

- Shahani S, Braga-Basaria M, Basaria S. Androgen deprivation therapy in prostate cancer and metabolic risk for atherosclerosis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2008;93(6):2042–9. doi:10.1210/jc.2007-2595.
- Shores MM, Smith NL, Forsberg CW, Anawalt BD, Matsumoto AM. Testosterone treatment and mortality in men with low testosterone levels. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2012;97(6):2050–8. doi:10.1210/jc.2011-2591.
- Shores MM, Biggs ML, Arnold AM, Smith NL, Longstreth WT, Kizer JR, et al. Testosterone, dihydrotestosterone, and incident cardiovascular disease and mortality in the cardiovascular health study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2014;99(6):2061–8. doi:10.1210/jc.2013-3576.
- Siegenthaler W, Aeschlimann A. Siegenthalers Differenzialdiagnose: innere Krankheiten vom Symptom zur Diagnose ; 323 Tabellen: Differentialdiagnostik der Ergebnisse häufiger laboruntersuchungen. Thieme; 2005.
- Siekmann L. Determination of steroid hormones by the use of isotope dilution--mass spectrometry: a definitive method in clinical chemistry. J Steroid Biochem. 1979;11(1A):117–23.
- Sievers C, Klotsche J, Pieper L, Schneider HJ, März W, Wittchen HU, et al. Low testosterone levels predict all-cause mortality and cardiovascular events in women: a prospective cohort study in German primary care patients. Eur J Endocrinol. 2010;163(4):699–708. doi:10.1530/EJE-10-0307.
- Siitonen N, Pulkkinen L, Lindström J, Kolehmainen M, Schwab U, Eriksson JG, et al. Association of ADIPOR2 gene variants with cardiovascular disease and type 2 diabetes risk in individuals with impaired glucose tolerance: the Finnish Diabetes Prevention Study. Cardiovasc Diabetol. 2011;10:83. doi:10.1186/1475-2840-10-83.
- Sjöholm Å, Nyström T. Endothelial inflammation in insulin resistance. The Lancet. 2005;365(9459):610–2. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(05)17912-4.
- Smith GD, Ben-Shlomo Y, Beswick A, Yarnell J, Lightman S, Elwood P. Cortisol, testosterone, and coronary heart disease: prospective evidence from the Caerphilly study. Circulation. 2005;112(3):332–40. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.104.489088.
- Soisson V, Brailly-Tabard S, Helmer C, Rouaud O, Ancelin M-L, Zerhouni C, et al. A Jshaped association between plasma testosterone and risk of ischemic arterial event in elderly men: The French 3C cohort study. Maturitas. 2013;75(3):282–8. doi:10.1016/j.maturitas.2013.04.012.
- Sposato LA, Cipriano LE, Saposnik G, Vargas ER, Riccio PM, Hachinski V. Diagnosis of atrial fibrillation after stroke and transient ischaemic attack: a systematic review and meta-analysis. The Lancet Neurology. 2015;14(4):377–87. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(15)70027-X.
- Staerk L, Sherer JA, Ko D, Benjamin EJ, Helm RH. Atrial Fibrillation: Epidemiology, Pathophysiology, and Clinical Outcomes. Circ Res. 2017;120(9):1501–17. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117.309732.
- Steinhausen M. Lehrbuch der Vegetativen Physiologie: Sexualfunktionen. Munich: J.F. Bergmann-Verlag; Imprint; 1984.

- Strausz S, Havulinna AS, Tuomi T, Bachour A, Groop L, Mäkitie A, et al. Obstructive sleep apnoea and the risk for coronary heart disease and type 2 diabetes: a longitudinal population-based study in Finland. BMJ Open 2018. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2018-022752.
- Streed CG, Harfouch O, Marvel F, Blumenthal RS, Martin SS, Mukherjee M. Cardiovascular Disease Among Transgender Adults Receiving Hormone Therapy: A Narrative Review. Ann Intern Med. 2017;167(4):256–67. doi:10.7326/M17-0577.
- Sund R. Quality of the Finnish Hospital Discharge Register: a systematic review. Scand J Public Health. 2012;40(6):505–15. doi:10.1177/1403494812456637.
- SVARTBERG J, MÜHLEN DV, MATHIESEN E, JOAKIMSEN O, BØNAA KH, STENSLAND-BUGGE E. Low testosterone levels are associated with carotid atherosclerosis in men. J Intern Med. 2006;259(6):576–82. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2796.2006.01637.x.
- Taieb J, Mathian B, Millot F, Patricot M-C, Mathieu E, Queyrel N, et al. Testosterone Measured by 10 Immunoassays and by Isotope-Dilution Gas Chromatography–Mass Spectrometry in Sera from 116 Men, Women, and Children. Clin Chem. 2003;49(8):1381–95. doi:10.1373/49.8.1381.
- Tan RS, Cook KR, Reilly WG. High estrogen in men after injectable testosterone therapy: the low T experience. Am J Mens Health. 2015;9(3):229–34. doi:10.1177/1557988314539000.
- te Velde ER, Pearson PL. The variability of female reproductive ageing. Hum Reprod Update. 2002;8(2):141–54.
- Tillin T, Hughes AD, Mayet J, Whincup P, Sattar N, Forouhi NG, et al. The Relationship Between Metabolic Risk Factors and Incident Cardiovascular Disease in Europeans, South Asians, and African Caribbeans: SABRE (Southall and Brent Revisited)—A Prospective Population-Based Study. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2013;61(17):1777–86. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2012.12.046.
- Traglia M, Sala C, Masciullo C, Cverhova V, Lori F, Pistis G, et al. Heritability and demographic analyses in the large isolated population of Val Borbera suggest advantages in mapping complex traits genes. PLoS ONE. 2009;4(10):e7554. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0007554.
- Travison TG, Araujo AB, O'Donnell AB, Kupelian V, McKinlay JB. A population-level decline in serum testosterone levels in American men. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2007;92(1):196– 202. doi:10.1210/jc.2006-1375.
- Travison TG, Shackelton R, Araujo AB, Morley JE, Williams RE, Clark RV, McKinlay JB. Frailty, serum androgens, and the CAG repeat polymorphism: results from the Massachusetts Male Aging Study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2010;95(6):2746–54. doi:10.1210/jc.2009-0919.
- Travison TG, Vesper HW, Orwoll E, Wu F, Kaufman JM, Wang Y, et al. Harmonized Reference Ranges for Circulating Testosterone Levels in Men of Four Cohort Studies in the United States and Europe. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2017;102(4):1161–73. doi:10.1210/jc.2016-2935.
- Tsai EC, Boyko EJ, Leonetti DL, Fujimoto WY. Low serum testosterone level as a predictor of increased visceral fat in Japanese-American men. International Journal of Obesity. 2000;24(4):485. doi:10.1038/sj.ijo.0801183.

- Tsuneda T, Yamashita T, Kato T, Sekiguchi A, Sagara K, Sawada H, et al. Deficiency of testosterone associates with the substrate of atrial fibrillation in the rat model. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol. 2009;20(9):1055–60. doi:10.1111/j.1540-8167.2009.01474.x.
- Välimäki M, Tuominen JA, Huhtaniemi I, Ylikahri R. The Pulsatile Secretion of Gonadotropins and Growth Hormone, and the Biological Activity of Luteinizing Hormone in Men Acutely Intoxicated with Ethanol. Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research. 1990;14(6):928–31. doi:10.1111/j.1530-0277.1990.tb01840.x.
- van Anders SM, Goldey KL, Bell SN. Measurement of Testosterone in Human Sexuality Research: Methodological Considerations. Archives of Sexual Behavior. 2014;43(2):231–50. doi:10.1007/s10508-013-0123-z.
- Vanberg P, Atar D. Androgenic anabolic steroid abuse and the cardiovascular system. Handb Exp Pharmacol. 2010(195):411–57. doi:10.1007/978-3-540-79088-4_18.
- Vandenput L, Ohlsson C. Genome-wide association studies on serum sex steroid levels. Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology. 2014;382(1):758–66. doi:10.1016/j.mce.2013.03.009.
- Varilo T, Laan M, Hovatta I, Wiebe V, Terwilliger JD, Peltonen L. Linkage disequilibrium in isolated populations: Finland and a young sub-population of Kuusamo. Eur J Hum Genet. 2000;8(8):604–12. doi:10.1038/sj.ejhg.5200482.
- Vartiainen E, Jousilahti P, Alfthan G, Sundvall J, Pietinen P, Puska P. Cardiovascular risk factor changes in Finland, 1972-1997. Int J Epidemiol. 2000;29(1):49–56.
- Veldhuis JD, Iranmanesh A, Godschalk M, Mulligan T. Older Men Manifest Multifold Synchrony Disruption of Reproductive Neurohormone Outflow. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2000;85(4):1477–86. doi:10.1210/jcem.85.4.6546.
- Vesper HW, Wang Y, Vidal M, Botelho JC, Caudill SP. Serum Total Testosterone Concentrations in the US Household Population from the NHANES 2011–2012 Study Population. Clin Chem. 2015;61(12):1495–504. doi:10.1373/clinchem.2015.245969.
- Vigen R, O'Donnell CI, Barón AE, Grunwald GK, Maddox TM, Bradley SM, et al. Association of testosterone therapy with mortality, myocardial infarction, and stroke in men with low testosterone levels. JAMA. 2013;310(17):1829–36. doi:10.1001/jama.2013.280386.
- Vikan T, Schirmer H, Njølstad I, Svartberg J. Endogenous sex hormones and the prospective association with cardiovascular disease and mortality in men: the Tromsø Study. Eur J Endocrinol. 2009;161(3):435–42. doi:10.1530/EJE-09-0284.
- Vikan T, Schirmer H, Njølstad I, Svartberg J. Low testosterone and sex hormone-binding globulin levels and high estradiol levels are independent predictors of type 2 diabetes in men. Eur J Endocrinol. 2010;162(4):747–54. doi:10.1530/EJE-09-0943.
- Vuong C, van Uum SHM, O'Dell LE, Lutfy K, Friedman TC. The effects of opioids and opioid analogs on animal and human endocrine systems. Endocr Rev. 2010;31(1):98–132. doi:10.1210/er.2009-0009.
- Wittert G. The relationship between sleep disorders and testosterone in men. Asian J Androl. 2014;16(2):262–5. doi:10.4103/1008-682X.122586.
- Wolf PA, Abbott RD, Kannel WB. Atrial fibrillation as an independent risk factor for stroke: the Framingham Study. Stroke. 1991;22(8):983–8. doi:10.1161/01.STR.22.8.983.

- Wu FCW, Eckardstein A von. Androgens and coronary artery disease. Endocr Rev. 2003;24(2):183–217. doi:10.1210/er.2001-0025.
- Würtz P, Havulinna AS, Soininen P, Tynkkynen T, Prieto-Merino D, Tillin T, et al. Metabolite Profiling and Cardiovascular Event Risk: A Prospective Study of Three Population-Based Cohorts. Circulation. 2015;131(9):774–85. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.114.013116.
- Xu L, Freeman G, Cowling BJ, Schooling CM. Testosterone therapy and cardiovascular events among men: a systematic review and meta-analysis of placebo-controlled randomized trials. BMC Med. 2013;11:108. doi:10.1186/1741-7015-11-108.
- Yao Q-M, Wang B, An X-F, Zhang J-A, Ding L. Testosterone level and risk of type 2 diabetes in men: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Endocr Connect. 2018;7(1):220–31. doi:10.1530/EC-17-0253.
- Yarnell JW, Beswick AD, Sweetnam PM, Riad-Fahmy D. Endogenous sex hormones and ischemic heart disease in men. The Caerphilly prospective study. Arterioscler Thromb. 1993;13(4):517–20.
- Yarnoz MJ, Curtis AB. More reasons why men and women are not the same (gender differences in electrophysiology and arrhythmias). Am J Cardiol. 2008;101(9):1291–6. doi:10.1016/j.amjcard.2007.12.027.
- Ye J. Mechanisms of insulin resistance in obesity. Front Med. 2013;7(1):14–24. doi:10.1007/s11684-013-0262-6.
- Yeap BB. Testosterone and cardiovascular disease risk. Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes. 2015;22(3):193–202. doi:10.1097/MED.00000000000161.
- Yeap BB, Hyde Z, Almeida OP, Norman PE, Chubb SAP, Jamrozik K, et al. Lower testosterone levels predict incident stroke and transient ischemic attack in older men. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2009;94(7):2353–9. doi:10.1210/jc.2008-2416.
- Yeap BB, Alfonso H, Chubb SAP, Handelsman DJ, Hankey GJ, Almeida OP, et al. In older men an optimal plasma testosterone is associated with reduced all-cause mortality and higher dihydrotestosterone with reduced ischemic heart disease mortality, while estradiol levels do not predict mortality. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2014;99(1):E9-18. doi:10.1210/jc.2013-3272.
- Zeller T, Schnabel RB, Appelbaum S, Ojeda F, Berisha F, Schulte-Steinberg B, et al. Low testosterone levels are predictive for incident atrial fibrillation and ischaemic stroke in men, but protective in women results from the FINRISK study. Eur J Prev Cardiol. 2018;25(11):1133–9. doi:10.1177/2047487318778346.
- Zhao J, Zhu S, Sun L, Meng F, Zhao L, Zhao Y, et al. Androgen deprivation therapy for prostate cancer is associated with cardiovascular morbidity and mortality: a metaanalysis of population-based observational studies. PLoS ONE. 2014;9(9):e107516. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0107516.
- Zhao SP, Li XP. The association of low plasma testosterone level with coronary artery disease in Chinese men. Int J Cardiol. 1998;63(2):161–4.
- Zimmerman Y, Eijkemans MJC, Coelingh Bennink HJT, Blankenstein MA, Fauser BCJM. The effect of combined oral contraception on testosterone levels in healthy women: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Hum Reprod Update. 2014;20(1):76–105. doi:10.1093/humupd/dmt038.

- Zitzmann M, Gromoll J, Eckardstein A von, Nieschlag E. The CAG repeat polymorphism in the androgen receptor gene modulates body fat mass and serum concentrations of leptin and insulin in men. Diabetologia. 2003;46(1):31–9. doi:10.1007/s00125-002-0980-9.
- Zumoff B, Strain GW, Miller LK, Rosner W. Twenty-four-hour mean plasma testosterone concentration declines with age in normal premenopausal women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1995;80(4):1429–30. doi:10.1210/jcem.80.4.7714119.p311-315

12. Danksagung

An dieser Stelle möchte ich einen besonderen Dank nachstehenden Personen entgegenbringen, ohne deren Mithilfe die Anfertigung dieser Promotionsschrift niemals zustande gekommen wäre:

Ich danke Herrn Prof. Dr. med. S. Blankenberg, meinem Doktorvater, für die Möglichkeit der Promotion sowie für die Auswahl und Überlassung des Dissertationsthema.

Mein besonderer Dank gilt Frau Prof. Dr. rer. nat. T. Zeller sowie Herrn PD. Dr. med. Karakas für die besonders gute Betreuung. Sie standen zur Zeit der Laborarbeit sowie während der Erstellung dieser Arbeit sehr hilfreich zur Seite und hatten stets ein offenes Ohr. Ich danke den beiden für die große Geduld, die konstruktive Kritik, sowie die Verbesserung dieser Arbeit.

Ich danke meiner Verlobten Verena Hahn, die mich während der Ausarbeitung motiviert als auch jede orthographische und syntaktische Korrektur mitbekommen hat. Ihr liebevolles Verständnis während dieser Zeit hat letztendlich Kraft und Mut zur Fertigstellung gegeben.

Ein herzlicher Dank geht an meinen Vater für seine Anregungen.

13. Lebenslauf

"Lebenslauf wurde aus datenschutzrechtlichen Gründen entfernt"

14. Eidesstattliche Erklärung

Ich versichere ausdrücklich, dass ich die Arbeit selbständig und ohne fremde Hilfe verfasst, andere als die von mir angegebenen Quellen und Hilfsmittel nicht benutzt und die aus den benutzten Werken wörtlich oder inhaltlich entnommenen Stellen einzeln nach Ausgabe (Auflage und Jahr des Erscheinens), Band und Seite des benutzten Werkes kenntlich gemacht habe.

Ferner versichere ich, dass ich die Dissertation bisher nicht einem Fachvertreter an einer anderen Hochschule zur Überprüfung vorgelegt oder mich anderweitig um Zulassung zur Promotion beworben habe.

Ich erkläre mich einverstanden, dass meine Dissertation vom Dekanat der Medizinischen Fakultät mit einer gängigen Software zur Erkennung von Plagiaten überprüft werden kann.

Unterschrift: